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ABOUT AFC

VISION

“Be the leading African institution in infrastructure
financing on the continent”

MISSION

“Foster economic growth and industrial development of
African countries, while delivering a competitive return on

investment to our shareholders” 
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I
t gives me great pleasure to present you with the Annual Report and Financial Statements of the 

Africa Finance Corporation (“AFC” or the “Corporation”) for the year ended 31 December, 2012.  

2012 was an exciting year for AFC, despite challenges in the global economy, difficult operating 

environment and heightened political risks; Africa recorded a higher economic growth rate than any 

of the other continents with private financing flows into the continent continuing to grow during the 

Eurozone financial crisis.  Capital flows into Africa exceeded US$50.0 billion in 2012, with two-thirds of 

private capital flows going to Nigeria and South Africa.

I am pleased to report that in 2012, AFC made good progress in advancing its vision of becoming the 

leading African institution active in infrastructure financing on the continent.  AFC renewed its focus by 

closing well structured transactions, providing financing solutions to help address Africa's infrastructure 

investment needs, and partnering with other institutions to deepen knowledge of the opportunities and 

challenges of financing infrastructure in Africa.

Total comprehensive income for the 2012 financial year was US$ 83.2 million, a 140% improvement 

compared with 2011 (US$ 34.7million). This was driven by better operating performance and gains on 

equity investments: Earnings per share was 119% higher at US 6.99 cents. Over the last four years, our 

Corporation's strategy has delivered strong results with a compounded growth rate of 38% in operating 

profit over the period.  

2012 Macroeconomic Environment 

2012 was a year of uneven growth driven by uncertainty in the global economy. It was an environment of 

slow growth and increased volatility as high income countries struggled to restructure their economies 

and regain fiscal stability and macro-economic sustainability. As advanced economies struggled, cracks 

CHAIRMAN'S
STATEMENT

I am pleased to report that in 

2012, AFC made good progress 

in advancing its vision of 

becoming the leading African 

institution active in infrastructure 

financing on the continent. 
Adebayo Ogunlesi - Chairman, Africa Finance Corporation
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in emerging market economies became apparent with growth at 1-2 percentage points below previous 

forecasts for 2012. 

Although the European Union remains a significant trade and investment partner, it competes in the 

Africa infrastructure space with key emerging powers. China still remains Africa's largest trading partner 

with US$160.0 billion in 2011.

Despite global challenges, African economies demonstrated some resilience with sub-Saharan Africa 

growing above 5% in 2012. This strong growth was driven by high commodity prices, increases in 

consumer purchasing power from the growing middle classes, sound macroeconomic policies and 

increased foreign direct investment as market uncertainty forced international investors to seek new 

markets in order to generate above average returns.

AFC was well positioned and benefited from Africa's strong growth in 2012. The demand for 

infrastructure required to support growing trade, financial, environmental and social investments 

created unique investment opportunities. We are optimistic that the African economies will continue to 

deliver a similar performance in 2013, and remain a favourable destination for capital. 

Notable Achievements

AFC made notable investments in the infrastructure space across Africa in 2012, given the opportunities 

from improved macroeconomic growth. The total investment portfolio at the end of the financial year 

was US$ 881.0 million. During the course of the year, AFC increased its active investment portfolio and 

expanded its investment footprint across the continent. The Corporation made a landmark investment in 

Côte d'Ivoire. A flagship Public Private Partnership (PPP) infrastructure project; the €270.0 million Henri 

Konan Bedie Bridge. The project involves the design, financing, construction, commissioning and 

operation of a 1.9 kilometre third bridge in Cote d Ivoire's commercial capital – Abidjan. AFC was the 

Mandated Lead Arranger of the junior debt tranche. This project, now under construction, was awarded 

the Euromoney Project Finance Magazine African Transport Deal of the Year, 2012. 

Similarly, in Kenya, AFC made a US$50.0 million convertible debt investment in ARM Cement Limited. 

The project which reached financial close in mid -2012 will aid increases in production volumes of 

cement in East Africa, and an expansion program into Tanzania and Southern Africa. The Corporation 

also made its first investment in North Africa through its participation in a US$220.0 million revolving 

Trade Finance facility for Société Anonyme Marocaine de l'Industrie du Raffinage (SAMIR) in Morocco. 

The project is expected to improve AFC's visibility and access into the region. The Corporation also 

renewed existing facilities to PTA Bank (US$123.5 million), participated in a syndicated refinancing 

transaction to Neconde (US$80.0 million) and made an investment in Volta River Authority (VRA) – 

Ghana, providing a US$50.0 million loan tranche in a syndicated US$150.0 million three year loan 

facility. 

On the advisory side, progress is being made, as the Corporation continues to execute its responsibilities 

under the Central Bank of Nigeria’s N300.0 billion (US$2.0 billion) Power and Aviation Infrastructure 

Fund (PAIF) and Nigerian National Infrastructure Finance Policy mandates. In the private sector, the 

Corporation is providing advisory services to a number of projects. For example, AFC participated as 
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advisers and co-arrangers in the Bonny Gas Transport (A subsidiary of the Nigerian Liquefied Natural 

Gas company- NLNG) fleet expansion in Nigeria. In addition to providing advisory services, AFC 

partnered with Vigeo Holdings Limited and Tata Power Delhi Distribution Limited for the acquisition of 

power distribution assets in the current Nigerian Government power sector privatisation round. The 

Corporation is also the lead investor in Cenpower Generation Company Limited (Cenpower), which is 

implementing the Kpone IPP project – a 340 megawatt combined cycle gas turbine power plant in Tema, 

Ghana.  Parliamentary approval for the project was obtained in 2012.

In addition to these investments, AFC continued its debt raising efforts aimed at optimising the capital 

structure of the Corporation and creating headroom to finance new investments. AFC was successful in 

closing a US$200.0 million 10 year facility from the African Development Bank.

Membership Expansion and Developing Partnerships

In 2012, the Corporation continued to develop strong partnerships to support our rapid growth. We 

expanded country membership to eight, with the inclusion of the Republic of Chad. In addition, The 

Gambia's National Assembly formally approved a resolution ratifying the AFC's Agreement and The 

Gambia's membership of the AFC, joining Nigeria and Ghana as member states that have officially 

ratified the Agreement for the Establishment of the AFC.

In line with our objective of providing innovative financing solutions for the African infrastructure market, 

AFC developed and launched a US$15.0 million joint Project Development Facility with the Dutch 

development bank - Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelings Landen N.V (FMO).  

The Facility will make early stage equity investments in projects under development by AFC, and third 

party developers across sub-Saharan Africa. Eligible Sectors will include: Power (generation, 

transmission and distribution); Transportation (roads, ports, airports, ferries and rail); Oil & Gas 

(pipeline and processing networks, indigenisation efforts and projects linked to power generation); 

Agribusiness Infrastructure (water treatment, supply chain, cold storage, fertiliser infrastructure) and 

Social Infrastructure.  

AFC partnered with the African Development Bank to organise its first economic debate entitled 'Africa 

Transforming Africa' during the African Development Bank (AfDB) Group's Annual Meetings in Arusha, 

Tanzania in May, 2012.

In mid-2012, AFC entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with China Africa 

Development Fund (CAD Fund) during the 2012 China-Africa Summit for the purpose of jointly 

developing infrastructure projects across Africa. AFC will be able to access project development funds 

whilst CAD Fund can leverage on AFC's technical expertise in project development across Africa. This 

will further enhance AFC's position as a financier of choice on the continent by strengthening our project 

development unit.

Corporate Governance

As Chairman, I am pleased to report that AFC was governed and managed with openness, honesty and 

transparency. The Board and I are committed to ensuring this continues to be the case. 
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In 2012, AFC continued to strengthen its shareholding and corporate governance structure. Following 

the recent banking sector reforms in Nigeria, Access Bank Plc and First City Monument Bank Plc, 

increased their shareholdings. Ecobank Nigeria Plc and Sterling Bank Plc became shareholders of the 

Corporation, and, AFC established a Unit Trust for its private individual shareholders. The consolidation 

occurring within some of our shareholder banks has created an opportunity to further enhance the skill 

set and mix of backgrounds and experiences within the Board with a number of appointments made 

during the year:- 

Mr. Jubril Aku- A distinguished banking and finance professional is currently the Chief Executive Officer 

of Ecobank Nigeria Plc.  He was appointed to the AFC Board to represent Ecobank Nigeria Plc on 19 

March, 2012.

Mr. Emeka Emuwa – An accomplished banker with a career spanning three decades across Africa, is 

currently the Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of Union Bank (Nigeria) Plc, having joined 

Union Bank Nigeria Plc after 25 years with Citigroup. He was appointed to the AFC Board to represent 

Union Bank Plc on 26 November, 2012 to replace Mrs. Olufunke Osibodu, who served meritoriously on 

the Board and resigned on 13 September, 2012.

Both Mr. Aku and Mr. Emuwa have distinguished themselves in banking and finance across Africa, and 

bring a combined experience of over 40 years to the Board.  

Our People

I must at this point compliment and thank the management and team at AFC for the progress they have 

made by managing the business very efficiently and effectively in the last few years. Our core 

differentiating factor is our expertise in innovative deal structuring and arranging, financial and technical 

advisory, and, project development. The commitment, tenacity and professionalism of our employees, 

has made it possible in the delivery of our objectives. 

Staff strength increased to 66 with greater representation from across the continent and with minimum 

attrition. We recognise that having an appropriately skilled workforce is fundamental to our success. We 

are taking firm action to ensure we have a robust pool of employees with the right skills and capabilities 

in the right roles. We recently broadened our staffing by employing young talent as analysts to support 

and maximize our performance. We seek to develop this talent, through new and innovative ways of 

enhancing capacity, capability and leadership skills, as we strive to make AFC not only an employer of 

choice on the continent, but also ensuring that our People remain a key source of competitive 

advantage.

Payment of Dividends

Significantly in 2012, in line with our increased financial performance, the Corporation made its first 

dividend payment. In line with our dividend policy, the Board of Directors has recommended a cash 

The commitment, tenacity and professionalism of our employees, 

has made it possible in the delivery of our objectives. 
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dividend of US 3.8 cents per share - US$41.3 million in aggregate, as payment  to all shareholders, 

subject to approval at the 2013 Annual General Meeting. 

The Future – 2013 in View

The AFC will seek to consolidate its achievements in 2013 as the African market continues to create 

investment opportunities. In order to achieve this, the team at AFC will be accelerating efforts in the area 

of asset creation and liability generation to adequately fund investment opportunities. High  demand for 

infrastructure  required to support the strong growth in commodities, trade and services in Africa, began 

to create some of the opportunities that can be harnessed in 2013, especially in the transport, power and 

natural resources sectors. In addition, new markets are presenting new opportunities for investment in 

infrastructure, notably: Cameroon, Guinea, Liberia, Tanzania, Angola and Mozambique, where the 

Corporation is already developing an active project pipeline.

AFC continues to closely monitor activity in the international debt 

markets, given our future need for liquidity and goal of raising 

additional financing in the near future. Despite the strong appetite 

for African risk, African credit is still being issued at a premium due 

to the perceived risks (mainly political and market) on the 

continent. The African international debt market is still largely 

driven by Sovereign debt, limiting corporate debt issuers and 

placing a higher premium on African risk. 

Conclusion

The fragility of the Eurozone and its impact on the world economy 

has continued to influence global investors to search for 

alternative investment destinations in their quest for 

diversification. This, in addition to the accommodative fiscal 

policy of the United States of America and sustained levels of quantitative easing, is also creating excess 

liquidity in the global economy. 

Africa presents significant investment growth opportunities. In 2012, AFC delivered comprehensive 

results towards fulfiling its vision to be 'the leading African institution in infrastructure financing on the 

continent'. I would like to thank all my colleagues; both those on the Board and our talented people for 

their dedication, hard work, and enthusiasm which has been fundamental to AFC's success. Our on-

going strategic focus aims to ensure that we continue to create long-term sustainable value for our 

shareholders.

AFC is well positioned to explore the opportunities in infrastructure financing in Africa. We remain 

committed to expanding our investment on the continent by aggressively creating new assets within our 

priority sectors; natural resources (oil & gas, mining), transport (road, rail, aviation, sea ports), heavy 

industry (cement, fertilizer), power and telecoms. We remain confident that our project development 

expertise together with the complementary resources available under the new facility, will enable quicker 

conversion of projects we have built up in our deal pipeline within the last two years. 

AFC will seek to 

consolidate its 

achievements in 

2013 as the 

African market 

continues to 

create investment 

opportunities.
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The drivers for our business remain firmly in place and AFC is committed to continue to provide financing 

solutions and making landmark investments with positive development and financial impacts on the 

continent. As we move forward to the next stage of our growth, we remain optimistic for the future within 

Africa's infrastructure space. 

I thank you all for your commitment and continued support of the Africa Finance Corporation.

Adebayo Ogunlesi

Chairman
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Note* Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Interest income 6 65,760 45,368

Interest expense 6 (2,675) (1,246)

Net interest margin 63,085 44,122

Dividend income 7 366 961

Fees and commission income 8 13,014 11,862

Operating income 76,465 56,945

Net gains on financial instruments at

fair value through profit or loss 9 27,989 -

Administrative expenses 10 (28,335) (22,196)

Profit for the year 76,119 34,749

Other Comprehensive Income:

Net gains on available-for-sale financial assets 18 7,113 -

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 83,232 34,749

Earnings per share for profit attributable to 

equity holders during the period (expressed in

United States cents per share)

- basic 12 6.99 3.19

- diluted 12 6.99 3.19

*The accompanying notes 41-83 are an integral part of these financial statements.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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As at As at

Note* 31 December 31 December

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

ASSETS:

Cash and balances with central and 

commercial banks 13 193,166 12,769

Loans and advances to banks 14 633,467 587,867

Derivative financial instruments 15 296 -

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 16 86,545 8,313

Loans and advances to other customers 17 465,210 339,869

Investment securities 18 304,625 299,436

Other assets 19 10,728 5,215

Property and equipment 20 2,155 1,737

Intangible assets 21 1,020 567

Total assets 1,697,212 1,255,773

LIABILITIES:

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 22 193,980 7,740

Derivative financial instruments 15 858 -

Borrowings 23 266,285 80,126

Total liabilities 461,123 87,866

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to the 

Corporation's equity holders

Share capital 26 1,089,067 1,089,117

Retained earnings 27 139,909 78,790

Fair value reserves 28 7,113 -

Total equity 1,236,089 1,167,907

Total liabilities and equity 1,697,212 1,255,773

The accompanying notes 41-83 are an integral part of these financial statements.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

12

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2012

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING | BRIDGING THE INVESTMENT DIVIDE



Share Retained Other

Capital Earnings Reserves Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

As at 1 January 2011 1,089,319 44,041 -  1,133,360

Shares repurchased during the year (202) - - (202)

Total comprehensive income - 34,749 - 34,749

As at 31 December 2011 1,089,117 78,790 - 1,167,907

Shares repurchased during the year (50) - - (50) 

Dividends paid during the year - (15,000) - (15,000)

Total comprehensive income - 76,119 7,113 83,232

As at 31 December 2012 1,089,067 139,909 7,113  1,236,089

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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Note* Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest and similar income received 68,828 39,306

Interest expense (2,087) (719)

Fee and commission receipts 13,796 12,815

Dividend income 7 366 961

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (22,119) (17,464)

Other assets (5,248) (835)

Deposits with central banks - 249

Advances to banks under import finance - (12,500)

Loans and advances to customers (127,186) (245,984)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (50,000) -

Other liabilities 180,826 (141)

Net cash from operating activities 57,176 (224,312)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investment securities 18 (84,449) (189,196)

Capital repayments of investment securities 86,373 6,956

Disposal of property and equipment 98 74

Purchase of property and equipment 20 (1,531) (688)

Purchase of software/Intangibles 21 (752) (138)

Net cash from investment activities (261) (182,992)

Cash flows from financing activities

Borrowings 185,570 79,264

Dividend payments (14,970) -

Re- purchase of stock (52) (210)

Net cash from financing activities 170,548 79,054

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 227,463 (328,250)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 571,108 899,358

of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end

of the year 30 798,571 571,108

*The accompanying notes 41-83 are an integral part of these financial statements.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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LEADERSHIP & GOVERNANCE

THE BOARD

1. Mr. Adebayo Ogunlesi, Chairman of the Board

2. Mr. Andrew Alli, President & Chief Executive Officer

3. Mr. Solomon Asamoah, Deputy Chief Executive

Officer & Chief Investment Officer 

4. Dr. Adesegun A. Akin-Olugbade, OON

Executive Director & General Counsel

5. Mr. Tunde Lemo, OFR, Deputy Governor, 

Operations Central Bank of Nigeria

Representing Central Bank of Nigeria

6. Mr. Aigboje Aig-Imoukhuede, CON
Group Managing Director Access Bank Plc
Representing Access Bank Plc

7. Mr. Tony Elumelu, CON Chairman, Heirs Holdings Limited
Representing United Bank for Africa Plc 

8. Mr. Jubril Aku, Group Managing Director, Ecobank Plc
Representing Ecobank Plc

9. Mr. Olabisi Onasanya, GMD/CEO
First Bank of Nigeria Plc
Representing First Bank of Nigeria Plc

10. Mr. Lewis Tung, Group Managing Director,
WEMPCO Group
Representing  GroupWEMPCO

11. Mr. Robert Tung, Director, Gloria Investments Limited
Representing Gloria Investments Limited

12. Mr. Aliyu Dikko, Managing Director,
Premium Pension Limited
Representing Central Bank of Nigeria

13. Mr Emeka Emuwa, Group Managing Director
Union Bank of Nigeria Plc 
Representing Union Bank of Nigeria Plc

14. Mr. Udom Emmanuel, Executive Director
Zenith Bank Plc
Representing Zenith Bank Plc

As at 31 December 2012
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LEADERSHIP & GOVERNANCE

THE MANAGEMENT
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1. Andrew Alli
President & Chief Executive Officer

2. Solomon Asamoah
Deputy Chief Executive Officer &

Chief Investment Officer

3.Dr. Adesegun Akin-Olugbade
Executive Director & General Counsel

4. Oliver Tunde Andrews 
Director & Chief Coverage Officer

5. Dr Adesola Adeduntan 
Director & Chief Financial Officer 

6. Roger Ellender 
Chief Risk Officer

1 2 3
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FC is a supranational financial organisation established in May 2007 as an African-led financial 

institution with the mission to improve African economies by proactively acquiring, financing and Amanaging infrastructure, industrial and financial assets. The Corporation's authorized capital is 

US$ 2.0 billion and has mobilised over US$1.1 billion of paid-up capital from private and public African 

institutions.

AFC is committed to strong corporate governance and strengthened its corporate governance practices in 

2012. The Board of Directors and Committees met regularly on a quarterly basis during the course of the 

year.

Board Composition

The AFC Board of Directors, subject to the provisions of the AFC Charter, has responsibility for the general 

conduct of the business of the Corporation. It exercises transparent independent judgment. As at 31 

December, 2012, the Board comprised 14 directors, made up of 11 non-executive directors and 3 

executive directors.

Annual General Meeting

Subject to the provisions of the AFC Charter, an Annual General Meeting will be held in June 2013.

Results and Dividends

The Corporation posted Total Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2012 of US $ 83.2 

million. The strong performance was attributable to significant growth in the Corporation's investment 

portfolio and in deal origination throughput during the year. The Board of Directors have recommended 

the payment of dividends in 2013.

AFRICA FINANCE CORPORATION

US$ 1.26bn

Fig. 1: Board Composition

17

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2012

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING | BRIDGING THE INVESTMENT DIVIDE



Environmental and Social Risk

The Corporation's Board Risk and Investment Committee has approved an Environmental and Social Risk 

Management Policy, for implementation by the Management,  the purpose of which is to ensure that the 

Corporation carries out its lending, investment and advisory services to its clients and counterparties in a 

manner that is environmentally sound and ensures sustainable development.  In the event that impact on 

the environment is unavoidable, or the successful conclusion of projects will affect local communities 

through displacement or other significant impact, the Corporation will ensure that such impact is reduced, 

mitigated or that appropriate compensation is provided. In particular, the Corporation is committed to 

ensuring that the costs of economic development do not fall disproportionately on those least able to bear 

those costs, that the environment is not degraded in the process, and that natural resources are managed 

efficiently and in a sustainable manner. 

The Corporation believes that regular engagement with local communities about matters that directly affect 

them plays an important role in avoiding or reducing harm to people and the environment. 

Thus, the Corporation is committed to ensuring through its environmental and social assessment and 

monitoring process that the projects that it finances, or the investments that it makes, are:

Ÿ Socially and environmentally sustainable.

Ÿ Respectful of the rights of affected communities.

Ÿ Structured and operated in compliance with the relevant regulatory requirements and with best 

international practice.

The Corporation recognizes that the inability or unwillingness to identify and manage environmental and 

social risks represents a serious threat to AFC's reputation and its business. Thus, adherence to the 

Corporation's Environmental and Social Risk Management Policy represents a fundamental objective for 

the AFC in order to minimize reputation risk and the risk of damage to the Corporation's business. 

Adherence also provides significant benefits to the Corporation, its clients and all stakeholders.

    

In the case of project financing, the target standards are the Equator Principles. However, AFC's 

commitment to promote environmental and social sustainability is not limited to project financing but also 

to its other businesses, namely equity investments, mezzanine financing or quasi-equity investments, project 

development financing,  corporate finance and short term loans and trade finance. 

In November 2012,  the Corporation signed a one year Technical Assistance Agreement with the Deutsche 

Investitions-und Entwicklungsgesellschaft mbH (DEG), Germany. The objective of the Technical Assistance 

Agreement is to assist the Corporation in establishing an Environmental and Social Risk Management 

System, which will not only ensure that the Corporation adheres to the highest global standards in respect 

of Environmental and Social Risk assessment, but also provide the Corporation with a competitive 

advantage with respect to infrastructure financing in Africa.
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2012 Economic and Market Review

012 was a year of sustained recovery for the global economy. Systemic fragility was heightened by 

significant downside risks arising from political pressure for fiscal consolidation in the United States, 2and slower growth momentum in the Eurozone. Global economic activities improved in some parts 

of the world, but remained slow as new policy initiatives were implemented, increasing market uncertainty. 

Overall, the world economy grew by 3.2% in 2012. The US economy grew by 2.3%, 1% above the 

average for advanced economies, further justifying the measure of implementing an expansionary fiscal 

policy during a period of recession. Conversely, the Eurozone contracted by 0.4%, with the exception of 

Germany which grew by 0.9% from its 3.1% growth recorded in 2011, further challenging the economic 

viability of the Eurozone and the sustainability of the various bailout programs. Currently, the core of the 

European Union (EU) has shown evidence of a 'double dip' recession. Implementation of the economic 

reforms in the individual EU countries is likely to hamper growth projections in 2013. 

Emerging markets continued to show some 

resilience despite uncertainty in the advanced 

economies. China grew at 7.8%, higher than the 

emerging market average of 5.1% but lower than its 

9.2% growth recorded in 2011. Industrial output 

was weaker due to a decline in demand from the 

West. Policy initiatives in advanced economies, 

aimed at protecting domestic industries to create 

jobs, had the ripple effect of improving domestic 

consumption which led to a reduction in the rate of 

growth in World Trade, with China as the world's 

manufacturing hub taking a hit. Net imports by advanced economies experienced a sharp decline in 

growth from 4.4% to 1.2%, while exports suffered a similar feat. In the same vein, a combination of weak 

import demand and domestic vulnerabilities, led to slower growth in India and Brazil which grew by 4.5% 

and 1%, respectively. Global GDP is projected to expand by 2.4% in 2012 and strengthen to 3.0% and 3.3 

% in 2013 and 2014, respectively.

Sub-Saharan Africa's (SSA) economic growth should accelerate to greater than 5% over the next 3 years 

according to World Bank projections. Apart from a few countries, the African continent continued to sustain 

its upward growth trajectory, driven by broad based economic and political reforms buoyed by the 

sustained commodity boom. In 2012, the SSA region grew by 4.8% although lower than 2011's 5.1% 

growth. Nigeria, Ghana, Côte'Ivoire, Kenya, Mozambique, Tanzania, Angola, Zambia to mention a few 

are some of the high potential countries for investment returns and were at the core of AFC's investment 

geography in 2012.

Many African countries are quickly transforming themselves from mineral and commodity resource wealth 

economies to service and produced wealth economies, which has helped to create greater value in terms 

of employment and economic empowerment.  Additionally, Information and Communications Technology 

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING
BRIDGING THE INVESTMENT DIVIDE

Apart from a few countries, the 
African continent continued to 
sustain its upward growth 
trajectory, driven by broad 
based economic and political 
reforms buoyed by the sustained 
commodity boom.

“
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(ICT) and telecommunications have been key drivers of the services sector in Africa, which has helped to 

foster innovation and entrepreneurship. This in addition to the relatively stable macro economic and 

political environment, coupled with the supply deficit in all facets of the African economy, has made the 

continent an attractive investment destination.

As money managers search for yields in their quest to diversify their portfolios, Africa continues to benefit. In 

addition, a growing middle class is helping to mobilise savings, with more than 50% of capital 

accumulation being funded by domestic savings in 2012. The Corporation anticipates that the growth 

momentum in these markets will continue, with pockets of investment opportunities in other markets across 

the continent. 

 

n  2012, Africa Finance Corporation expanded its investment footprint across the continent by 

increasing its active investment portfolio. Several projects incubated by AFC came on stream. Notable Iinvestments included: ARM Cement in East Africa, in which the Corporation invested, through a 

convertible bond instrument. In Côte'd Ivoire, we reached financial close on the Konan Bedie toll bridge in 

Abidjan after almost 14 years of development by the parties to the transaction. The flagship project scored 

many firsts in PPP transactions in sub-Saharan Africa with a 'minimum revenue guarantee' innovation from 

the Government of Côte d'Ivoire in the event of revenue shortfalls from collections from the toll bridge. The 

project continues to win awards including the Euromoney Project Finance African Transport Deal of the 

Year, 2012.

In Ghana, substantial progress was made with the development of the Kpone 340mw IPP project, 

Cenpower, in partnership with local Ghanaian and foreign investors. The project received Ghanaian 

parliamentary approval during the year, and additionally, the EPC Contractor and Mandated lead arranger 

were selected. Cenpower is a model of cooperation between Development Partners represented by 

InfraCo (a Donor funded Infrastructure Developer) and African Developers. In parallel, the Corporation 

provided Volta River Authority with a US$50.0 million loan tranche in a syndicated US$150.0 million 3 

year loan facility to finance the import of crude oil for the power utility. 

AFC completed its first investment in North Africa, through a limited recourse receivables discounting 

revolving facility in Société Marocaine Et Italienne de Raffinage(SAMIR).

Additionally, AFC completed an US$80.0 million refinancing to Neconde Limited, a special purpose 

vehicle set up by a local investor-led consortium to participate in the Shell Nigeria asset divestment 

program. The Corporation continued to expand its visibility by structuring high profile transactions for both 

corporate institutions and national governments in its core sectors across the continent. 

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS
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Henri Konan Bedie Bridge – Côte D'Ivoire

Africa Finance Corporation (AFC), in conjunction with the African 

Development Bank, Government of Côte d'Ivoire and other 

international financial institutions, provided the € 270.0 million 

co-financing of the flagship PPP road infrastructure project in  

Côte d'Ivoire. The Henri Konan Bedie Bridge is innovative in being 

the first PPP to use a Government-backed minimum revenue 

guarantee instrument. 

The flagship PPP infrastructure project involves the design, 

financing, construction, and operation of a 6.4 kilometer highway 

and 1.9 kilometer third bridge with three lanes in each direction, 

across the Ebrié lagoon, connecting Abidjan's residential Riviera 

district directly with the commercial district of Marcory, thereby 

eliminating the 9 kilometre detour through heavy traffic 

congestion that motorists are forced to make by using the existing 

bridges. The bridge will have a toll station on the north side of the 

lagoon. The project also includes a number of foot bridges for 

pedestrians. Once completed, the new toll bridge will provide 

easier access to the city of Abidjan, reduce transportation costs by 

easing congestion over the existing two (non-tolled) bridges 

crossing the lagoon within the city.

The original concept was formulated in the mid-1990s. In 1997, 

the Côte d'Ivoire government selected SOCOPRIM S.A., (the project Special Purpose Vehicle set up by the 

Bouygues Group as a majority shareholder and Concessionaire to construct, develop and operate the new 

Konan Bedie bridge for a 30 year period. Bouygues Group, is a leading European global construction, civil 

engineering, electrical contracting and maintenance provider. Bouygues Group's activities include the 

development of residential and commercial property, construction and maintenance of transport, urban 

development and leisure infrastructure. Key projects developed include road and bridge projects in Burkina 

Faso, Cameroon, Congo, Côte d'Ivoire, Egypt, Gabon, Equatorial Guinea, Mali, Morocco, and Senegal.

The core financiers for the project are:- Bouygues Group, AFC, the African Development Bank (AfDB), 

FMO, Pan African Infrastructure Development Fund (PAIDF), Banque Quest Africaine dé Developpement 

1. Oliver Tunde Andrews,
Director Origination & Coverage

2. Amadou Wadda, Senior Vice President 

Infrastructure & Head Project Development

3. Henry Morris, Senior Vice President & Head 

Structured Debt & Project Finance

4. Kudzayi Hove, Senior Vice President & Head 

Equity Investments 

5. Madibinet Cisse, Vice President & Senior Counsel

6. Franklin Edochie, Senior Associate, Investment

R-L: Oliver Andrews and 
Franklin Edochie 
accepting the Project 
Finance African Transport 
Deal of the Year, 2012 on 
behalf of the Corporation,
at the Euromoney, Project 
Finance Deals of the Year 
Awards held in London, 
UK.
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The Henri Konan Bedie Bridge (construction work in progress)
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( , Banqué d'Investissement et de Developpement de la CEDEAO (  Ecowas Bank for 

Investment & Development (EBID) and Banque Marocaine du Commerce Extérieur (BMCE). 

The Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA) the political risk insurance arm of the World Bank 

Group provided US$145.0 million in insurance cover for equity investments and subordinated loans.

AFC was the mandated lead arranger of the mezzanine tranche of the financing and provided  an 

aggregate commitment of €40 million comprising commitments to the  senior and mezannine loan 

facilities, and an equity investment.  

Abidjan, the commercial heart of Côte d'Ivoire is a fast growing post conflict metropolis, with a population 

in excess of 2 million, and infrastructure in dire need of investment and expansion. The original concession 

was won by Bouygues Group in 1997. In the intervening period to financial close in 2012, there was 

political instability, with a military coup d'état, three changes of government and a presidential election 

together with civil conflict   paralyzing International private sector investment with a flight of capital to more 

stable emerging economies in the face of a growing global 'credit crunch'. To overcome these challenges, 

the Government of Côte d'Ivoire will be providing a minimum revenue guarantee in the event of revenue 

shortfalls from collections from the toll bridge and a € 90 million subsidy to the propject. The  Bouygues led 

consortium implemented a multi-currency deal, with the project sponsor providing hedging options to 

dollar investors, at costs borne by the project. AFC provided long tenor financing facilities to allow for the 

construction period and ramp up in operations.

The new toll bridge will, once completed, connect residential and industrial areas, and provide easier 

access to the city of Abidjan. It is expected to reduce transportation costs by easing congestion and 

enhancing the investment attractiveness of Côte d'Ivoire. It will be constructed by the key sponsor of the 

project - Bouygues Group, under a turnkey fixed price arrangement. Further, the project will provide direct 

and indirect employment, including approximately 840 jobs in the construction phase alone.

Given the scale of Africa's infrastructure needs and investment deficit, together with the opportunities 

created by the drive to engage the private sector in financing the investment deficit, the AFC will continue to 

partner with institutions and Governments on projects that will have a positive impact on economic 

development. The Corporation will accomplish this by creating enabling infrastructure, employment, local 

procurement of goods and services for construction, enhancing the investment climate and in so doing, 

implement  our mandate to bridge the infrastructure investment deficit in Africa.

The project has won significant industry recognition as the Euromoney Project Finance African Transport 

Deal of the Year 2012, the EMEA Project Finance Best Infrastructure deal in EMEA, 2012 and one of the top 

ten in the World Bank's International Finance Corporation (IFC) 2012 Emerging PPPs in sub-Saharan 

Africa. It will additionally provide important demonstration effects for future initiatives in the transport sector.

Société Anonyme Marocaine Et Italienne de Raffinage (SAMIR) 

AFC concluded its first financing in North Africa during the year by participating in a revolving US$220.0 

million Receivables Discounting Facility to the national refinery in Morocco, the Société Anonyme 

Marocaine et Italienne de Raffinage (SAMIR), through Glencore, one of its crude oil suppliers. SAMIR is the 

sole and national refinery of Morocco and is the biggest company in Morocco by turnover. The facility was 

BOAD) BIDC)
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used to discount trade receivables due from SAMIR, and is 

repayable from the proceeds of the sale of refined petroleum 

products by SAMIR. AFC's participation of US$15.0 million in the 

facility was in partnership with FBC Bank (UK) Limited.  The 

transaction is AFC's first in the Maghreb region of the Continent. 

  

SAMIR was established in 1959 by the Moroccan government 

through the Bureau d' Etudes et des Participations Industrielles 

(BEPI) and the Office Italien des Hydrocarbures (ENI) in a joint 

venture with the AGIP group. The company was nationalised in 

1973, subsequently, the Corral Group Morocco acquired a 

majority shareholding. SAMIR's main activity is the refining of 

crude oil primarily for the Moroccan market. SAMIR is benefiting 

from the experience of the Corral group which owns 67.27% of its 

shares and is involved in liquefied petroleum gas production, 

supply chain management, oil products distribution, engineering, 

professional training and construction through its participation in 

several major Moroccan companies. 

AFC and PTA Bank Trade Finance Facility Renewal

AFC renewed a US$25.0 million Trade Finance Credit Line to the Eastern and Southern African Trade and 

Development Bank (PTA Bank). AFC and PTA Bank have, over the last two years, developed a strong 

business partnership.  In addition to the direct Trade Finance Credit Line, AFC has a Risk Participation 

Agreement with PTA Bank, under which both institutions are financing the importation of co-mingled oil 

products into Zambia for refining into refined petroleum products. AFC's total financing collaboration with 

(including direct commitment to) PTA Bank is US$115.0 million. 

1.

Institutions & Advisory

2. Ugo Alex-Orji, Vice President Investment

3. Madibinet Cisse, Vice President & Senior Counsel

4. Ufuoma Adasen, Associate, Investment

Taiwo Adeniji, Director & Head of Financial 

PTA Bank facility renewal signing, Nairobi, Kenya  L-R: Andrew Alli, President & CEO 
Africa Finance Corporation and Adamassu Tadasse President & CEO PTA Bank 
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ARM Cement Limited

AFC provided a US$50.0 million investment in the form of  

convertible debt in ARM Cement Limited  (ARM). The investment 

is being used to support ARM's future expansion initiatives across 

Eastern and Southern Africa. ARM intends to use the investment 

to expand its operations and grow the business regionally 

through the development and construction of a lime plant in 

Tanzania, a cement plant in South Africa, and, expansion of 

ARM's cement capacity in Kenya.

In 2012, AFC provided a US$50.0 million investment in the form 

of  convertible debt to ARM Cement Limited (ARM), formerly Athi 

River Mining Limited to support ARM's future expansion across 

Eastern and Southern Africa. ARM, headquartered in Nairobi, 

Kenya, is a rapidly expanding regional cement and industrial 

minerals company, listed on the Nairobi Securities Exchange and 

is the second largest cement operator and manufacturer in East 

Africa.  ARM was founded in 1974 and has operations in Kenya, 

Tanzania, Rwanda and South Africa.

Since its public listing in 2007, ARM has expanded its operations through internally generated cash flow 

and corporate borrowings.  While this has allowed for steady growth, the capital intensive nature of cement 

projects resulted in a highly leveraged balance sheet and a natural constraint on the pace of the Company's 

expansion.  As a result, ARM sought a potential financing partner to take a significant minority stake in the 

business, and to provide equity or equity-like capital to fund the Company's growth. 

At the time of AFC's investment, ARM had already invested heavily in its expansion into Tanzania through 

the development and construction of a grinding plant and an integrated clinker plant in Tanzania. Both 
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1. Andrew Alli, President & Chief Executive Officer 

2. Ini Urua, Senior Vice President, Heavy Industries

3. Aliya Shariff, Vice President, Investment 

4. Madibinet Cisse, Vice President & Senior Counsel

5. Franklin Edochie, Senior Associate, Investment



projects, were  uncompleted. Consequently,  the value from ARM's ongoing investments had not yet been 

realized and fully factored into its quoted share price.  As an institution with the ability to provide both debt 

and equity financing, AFC took an innovative approach to the investment and considered an optimal 

secured convertible note structure for the Company. The structure, with a fixed strike price, allowed ARM to 

benefit from a premium valuation in comparison with the listed price, and, provided AFC with downside 

protection on its investment in the event the strike price was not realized. 

Since the funding of the AFC investment, ARM has completed and commissioned its grinding plant outside 

Dar es Salaam, which is now operational, while  construction work has intensified on the integrated clinker 

plant to bring it to completion. AFC lent its structured financing expertise to the project and has joined the 

Board of ARM. 

Cement production is capital intensive but the output has significant impact in terms of direct and indirect 

employment opportunities, local capacity development, road construction and housing. ARM looked to the 

Corporation to advise, structure, execute and co-invest in its business, translating real value into revenue 

growth. AFC remains committed to channeling private capital inflows into critical economic  infrastructure 

and ensuring that the costs of economic development do not fall disproportionately on those less able to 

bear those costs.

Neconde Energy 

The Oil Mining Lease - OML 42 asset is located in the western Niger Delta region of Nigeria and is 

estimated to hold recoverable and contingent reserves in excess of 

100 million barrels oil equivalent, primarily from five discovered 

fields.

In 2011, the Shell Joint Venture (Shell, Total and Agip) divested its 

45% stake in OML 42 as part of its strategy to de-emphasize its 

on-shore operations in the Western Niger-Delta and sold the 

stake to an indigenous company;  Neconde Energy (Neconde). 

Neconde was established as a Nigerian upstream oil and gas 

company, focused on acquiring production and development 

assets across Africa. The company is a consortium of three 

indigenous companies; Nestoil, The Yinka Folawiyo Group (Aries 

Limited), VP Global, and two Polish institutions; Kulczyk 

Investments and Oil Ventures.

In 2012, Neconde Energy refinanced its existing Medium term 

US$150.0 million facility into a US$470.0 million Senior Secured 

Revolving Reserve Base Lending facility to finance capital 

expenditure to increase production from 15,000 barrels per day 

to a peak production of 67,000 barrels by 2015.

Standard Bank Group and Access Bank plc were the 

Coordinating Mandated Lead Arrangers  for the US$470.0 

1.

2. Osam Iyahen, Vice President, Oil & Gas

3. Jerry Djangmah, Vice President, Investment

4. Chinekwu Duru, Senior Associate Counsel

5. Franklin Edochie, Senior Associate, Investment

Solomon Asamoah,
Deputy CEO & Chief Investment Officer
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million Senior Secured Revolving Reserve Base Lending facility. AFC together with Guaranty Trust Bank, 

Diamond Bank, African Export-Import Bank and Fidelity Bank were the Mandated Lead Arrangers. The 

investment in Neconde falls within AFC's oil and gas strategy, to support the growth of indigenous 

companies seeking to regionalise, and capture more of the value of Africa's natural resources on the 

continent with the resultant socio-economic benefits. 

First Hydrocarbon Nigeria

The Oil Mining Lease - OML 26 asset is located on-shore within Delta State in the South Western region of 

Nigeria. It comprises two developed and producing fields, Ogini and Isoko, and three undeveloped fields 

(Aboh, Ovo and Ozoro). 

Egwa 1 Inlet Manifold Batan Flow Station Facility and Layout

Location: Onshore Delta State
Block: OML 26
2 developed fields (Ogini & Isoko)
3 undeveloped fields (Aboh, Ovo and 
Ozoro)
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First Hydrocarbon Nigeria (FHN) 26 is a wholly owned subsidiary of FHN. It was established in October 

2010 for the acquisition of the cumulative 45% participating interest in OML 26 from the Shell Joint Venture, 

and subsequent development of the Asset. FHN is owned by Afren Plc and various Nigerian shareholders. 

Afren plc are the technical operators of FHN 26.

The remaining 55% participating interest in OML 26 is owned by Nigerian Petroleum Development 

Company (NPDC), a fully-owned subsidiary of the Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation (NNPC) with 

responsibility for petroleum exploration and production activities.  The NPDC is the designated operator of 

the asset.

AFC committed US$ 36.0 million in a syndicated 5 year US$ 230.0 million Reserve base lending facility for 

the acquisition of a 45% participating interest in OML 26 and development of the asset.

Volta River Authority

The Volta River Authority of Ghana (VRA), established in 1961, is 

the principal source of power generation in Ghana generating its 

electricity from hydro and thermal sources. AFC provided VRA 

with a US$ 50.0 million loan tranche in a syndicated US$150.0 

million 3 year loan facility. The facility will enable VRA to procure 

Light Crude Oil on an uninterrupted basis for power generation.  

As a pan-African multilateral financing institution, AFC's objective 

is not only to help ease the power deficit in Ghana, reduce the 

cost of electricity and support the Government of Ghana in 

realising its vision to accelerate Ghana's economic development, 

but also to help Africa bridge the power infrastructure gap and 

operational requirements to drive economic growth.

The transaction demonstrates the increasing financial capacity 

within the continent, and the ability of intra African partnerships to 

drive economic development across Africa.  1.

2. Henry Morris, Senior Vice President & Head 

Structured Debt & Project Finance

3. Jerry Djangmah, Vice President, Investment

4. , Vice President, Power

5. Madibinet Cisse, Vice President & Senior Counsel

6. Ufuoma Adasen, Associate, Investment

Solomon Asamoah,
Deputy CEO & Chief Investment Officer

Theo Sackey

28

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2012



FINANCIAL AND TECHNICAL ADVISORY

Power And Aviation Intervention Fund (PAIF)

n 2012, AFC was appointed Technical Adviser to the Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN) in the management Iof its N300.0 billion (US$2.0 billion) Power and Aviation Intervention Fund (“PAIF” or the “Fund”). The 

PAIF was created as a robust CBN policy response of active 'quantitative easing programs' to mitigate the 

effects of the international financial meltdown and its impact on the Nigerian economy during 2009-2010. 

One of the elements of this program was the targeting of liquidity to two key sectors of the economy through 

the provision of a N300.0 billion intervention fund in support of the power and aviation sectors. 

AFC was a member of the Technical Committee established by the CBN to develop the conceptual 

framework for the Fund, and its operational modalities, prior to its establishment. The AFC was subsequently 

appointed as the Technical Adviser to the Fund, with the Bank of Industry (BOI) serving as the Fund's 

Managing Agent. 

AFC performs various tasks in fulfillment of its responsibilities, including inter alia: Conducting detailed 

evaluation and assessment of applications received from the participating financial institutions to confirm 

their eligibility requirements under the PAIF Guidelines. The assessments include evaluating the technical 

feasibility and commercial viability of the power and aviation projects, and their adherence to regulatory and 

PAIDF requirements.  Verifying key information presented, including project costs, off-taker creditworthiness, 

inputs to the financial forecasts; conducting visits to project sites to independently validate information, 

conducting technical assessments including load audits; and   providing ongoing support to participating 

banks and customers on project issues relating to their projects, e.g. clarifications on regulatory matters, 

high level assistance with project structures, and with key terms for the commercial agreements.

Since its establishment, the PAIF has had a positive impact on the Nigerian economy. More than 23 power 

projects and 18 aviation projects have benefitted from the Fund with over NGN 200 billion already 

disbursed. The Fund has helped in reducing the operating costs experienced by the projects, by providing 

appropriately priced long-term loans to the projects, capped to 15 years senior debt and 7% interest rate, 

thus reducing the huge financing costs faced by the projects, and contributing to improving the commercial 

viability of project.  The Fund has also contributed to the amelioration of the power supply situation within 

Nigeria, alleviating a major drag on economic activity and development. 

In 2012, AFC additionally led study tours to India and South Africa.  The objective of the study tours was not 

only to transfer knowledge learnt from our involvement with the Fund, but also to develop capacity within 

continental Africa.
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MEMBERSHIP

Chad

In 2012, the Corporation continued to develop strong partnerships to support our rapid growth, and 

expanded country membership to eight, with the accession of the Republic of Chad. The Corporation 

welcomed Chad, a major oil producing nation, as the first central African member. 

The Gambia

The Gambia's National Assembly formally approved a resolution ratifying the AFC's Agreement and The 

Gambia's membership of the AFC. The Gambia joined Nigeria and Ghana as member states that have 

officially ratified the Agreement for the Establishment of the AFC. 

We continue to make further progress with our membership drive, with near term targets being Cape Verde, 

UEMOA Countries - Côte'd Ivoire, Benin, Togo, Senegal, Mali, Burkina-Faso, Kenya, Mozambique, 

Rwanda, Tanzania, Uganda and Zambia.

PARTNERSHIP

The AFC - FMO Project Development Facility 

Improved governance and macroeconomic conditions have not increased Africa's share of global private 

infrastructure investment, despite the substantial and growing demand for infrastructure. Few bankable 

infrastructure projects have closed in Africa in recent years, principally due to a lack of adequate early stage 

project development risk capital and the expertise to take such projects to financial close.  

EXPANDING
AND

 MEMBERSHIP
 PARTNERSHIPS

Current Members

Prospective Members
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In respect of early stage projects, AFC was established to help address two major gaps in the development 

and financing of infrastructure projects in Africa:- the lack of availability of early stage risk capital; and the 

lack of adequate project development and project structuring capacity to drive projects from vision to 

bankability and delivery in line with global best practice.

AFC thus offers a unique value proposition by providing early stage risk capital and project development  

advisory services, in order to increase the pipeline of bankable and well structured infrastructure projects, 

with far reaching developmental implications for Africa.

The AFC/FMO Facility is a partnership between Africa Finance Corporation (AFC) and Netherlands 

Development Finance Company.  Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelings laden N.V (FMO). The 

facility, which will be managed by AFC, will fund early stage equity investments in infrastructure projects 

under development by AFC, FMO, AFC affiliates or associated developers. Typical early equity investments 

will include environmental assessments, commercial feasibility studies, engineering design, legal advisory.

AFC and FMO have committed an initial amount of US$7.5 million each to the facility, which is expected to 

run for 7 years with a possible 2 year extension. It is expected that other Development Finance Institutions will 

also join to expand the facility in the near future.

The AFC FMO Project Development Facility Team, 
at the Hague, Netherlands 

L-R: Aart Mulder, Manager Energy North West Africa 
and Asia FMO; Magchiel Groot, Senior Investment 
officer Private Equity FMO; Janos Bonta, Senior 
investment officer FMO; Bernhard van Meeteren, Senior 
Investment officer Energy FMO; Huub Cornelissen, 
Director Energy FMO;Ellen Wolchek, Senior counsel 
FMO; Jurgen Rigterink, Chief Investment Officer FMO.

R-L: Osaruyi Orobosa-Ogbeide, Special Assistant to 
the President & CEO; AFC; Andrew Alli, President & 
CEO AFC; Oliver Andrews, Director & Chief Coverage 
Officer AFC.
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Leveraging the Balance Sheet – African Development Bank

Line of Credit for Infrastructure Development

The scale and magnitude of the infrastructure deficit 

African economies face can only be effectively 

addressed when institutions join in partnership, to 

finance indigenous long term investment. AFC has 

taken a critical step in diversifying its long term 

funding sources, leverage its balance sheet, and 

thereby increase its capacity to support the 

development of vital infrastructure in the power, 

natural resources, transport, heavy industry and 

telecommunications sectors in Africa.  In 2012, 

AFC secured a landmark commercial borrowing of 

US$ 200.0 million ten year line of credit  facility 

granted by the African Development Bank (AfDB).

This facility with AfDB represents a key part of AFC's international funding strategy. This long term borrowing 

is from another African institution with which AFC collaborates closely and is developing a strategic 

partnership. The transaction demonstrates the increasing financial capacity of the continent, and the ability 

of intra African partnerships to drive economic development and help transform Africa. 

L-R: Chinekwu Duru, Senior Associate Counsel, Africa Finance Corporation; Chike Obianwu, Partner Templars; Andrew Alli, President & CEO, Africa Finance 
Corporation; Dr. Ousman Dore,  AfDB Resident Representative, Nigeria; Dr. Adesegun Akin-Olugbade, Executive Director and General Counsel Africa 
Finance Corporation; Chioma Oparadike, Associate,Templars.                                                                                                                    

L-R: Andrew Alli, President & CEO, Africa Finance Corporation 
and Dr. Ousman Dore, AfDB Resident Representative, Nigeria.

1. Adesegun Akin-Olugbade,
Executive Director & General Counsel

2. Adesola Adeduntan, Director & Chief 

Financial Officer 

3. Taiwo Adeniji, Director & Head Financial 

Institutions & Advisory 

4. Banji Fehintola, Senior Vice President

& Treasurer

5. Nana Eshun, Senior Vice President &

Lead Counsel

6. Prince Essilfie, Vice-President ,Treasury

7. Chinekwu Duru, Senior Associate Counsel
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FINANCIAL
STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2012

AFRICA FINANCE CORPORATION



STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY

he directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements for each financial year 

that give a true and fair view of the state of financial affairs of the Corporation at the end of the Tyear and of its profit or loss. The directors are also responsible for ensuring that the Corporation 

keeps proper accounting records that disclose, with reasonable accuracy, the financial position of the 

Corporation.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Corporation.

The directors accept responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been prepared using 

appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable estimates, in conformity with International 

Financial Reporting Standards. The directors further accept responsibility for the maintenance of 

accounting records that may be relied upon in the preparation of the financial statements, as well as for 

designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement.

Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that the Corporation will not remain a 

going concern for at least twelve months from the date of this statement.

Approval of Annual Financial Statements

The annual financial statements, presented on pages 4 to 58, were approved by the board of directors 

on 4 March 2013 and were signed on its behalf by:

__________________ __________________

Chairman President & CEO 
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND GENERAL MEETING
OF THE AFRICA FINANCE CORPORATION

In compliance with the provisions of Article 28 of the Charter of the Africa Finance Corporation and 

pursuant to the terms of the Audit and Compliance Committee (“the Committee”) statute concerning the 

establishment, membership, functions and powers of the Audit Committee of the Africa Finance 

Corporation, the Committee considered the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 

December 2012, at its meeting held on 22 February, 2013.

In our opinion, the scope and planning of the audit for the year ended 31 December, 2012 were 

adequate.

The Committee reviewed and was satisfied with the auditor's submissions. 

After due consideration, the Committee accepted the report of the auditors to the effect that the financial 

statements were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards and gave 

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Corporation's financial condition as at 31 December 

2012.

The Committee, therefore, recommended that the audited financial statements of the Corporation for 

the financial year ended 31 December, 2012 and the auditor's report thereon be approved by the Board 

and presented for consideration by shareholders at the general meeting.

The Committee accepted the provision made in the financial statements for the remuneration of the 

auditors and recommended that the Board accept same. Furthermore, the Committee recommended to 

the shareholders, the reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Corporation's external auditors 

for the 2013 Financial Year.

________________________

Tunde Lemo, OFR

Chairman

Audit & Compliance Committee

Members of the Committee

Mr. Aigboje Aig-Imoukhuede, CON 

Mr. Aliyu Dikko

Mr. Emeka Emuwa

Mr. Jubril Aku

Mr. Lewis Tung 

Mr. Udom Emmanuel

35

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2012

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING | BRIDGING THE INVESTMENT DIVIDE



REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
TO THE MEMBERS OF AFRICA FINANCE CORPORATION

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Africa Finance Corporation which comprise 

the statement of financial position as of 31 December 2012, statement of comprehensive income, 

statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors' responsibility for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, 

implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting 

and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in

the circumstances.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require 

that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 

overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 

of Africa Finance Corporation as of 31 December 2012, and of its financial performance and cash flows 

for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants

Lagos, Nigeria 22 March 2013

PricewaterhouseCooper Chartered Accountants, 25E Muri Okunola Street, Victoria Island Lagos, Nigeria.
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Note* Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Interest income 6 65,760 45,368

Interest expense 6 (2,675) (1,246)

Net interest margin 63,085 44,122

Dividend income 7 366 961

Fees and commission income 8 13,014 11,862

Operating income 76,465 56,945

Net gains on financial instruments at

fair value through profit or loss 9 27,989 -

Administrative expenses 10 (28,335) (22,196)

Profit for the year 76,119 34,749

Other Comprehensive Income:

Net gains on available-for-sale financial assets 18 7,113 -

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 83,232 34,749

Earnings per share for profit attributable to 

equity holders during the period (expressed in

United States cents per share)

-basic 12 6.99 3.19

-diluted 12 6.99 3.19

*The accompanying notes 41-83 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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Note* Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

ASSETS:

Cash and balances with central and 

commercial banks 13 193,166 12,769

Loans and advances to banks 14 633,467 587,867

Derivative financial instruments 15 296 -

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 16 86,545 8,313

Loans and advances to other customers 17 465,210 339,869

Investment securities 18 304,625 299,436

Other assets 19 10,728 5,215

Property and equipment 20 2,155 1,737

Intangible assets 21 1,020 567

Total assets 1,697,212 1,255,773

LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 22 193,980 7,740

Derivative financial instruments 15 858 -

Borrowings 23 266,285 80,126

Total liabilities 461,123 87,866

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to the Corporation's equity holders

Share capital 26 1,089,067 1,089,117

Retained earnings 27 139,909 78,790

Fair value reserves 28 7,113 -

Total equity 1,236,089 1,167,907

Total liabilities and equity 1,697,212 1,255,773

*The accompanying notes 41-83 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Share Retained Other
Capital Earnings Reserves Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

As at 1 January 2011 1,089,319 44,041 -  1,133,360

Shares repurchased during the year (202) - - (202)

Total comprehensive income - 34,749 - 34,749

As at 31 December 2011 1,089,117 78,790 - 1,167,907

Shares repurchased during the year (50) - - (50) 

Dividends paid during the year - (15,000) - (15,000)

Total comprehensive income - 76,119 7,113 83,232

As at 31 December 2012 1,089,067 139,909 7,113  1,236,089

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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Note* Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2012 2011
US$'000 US$'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest and similar income received 68,828 39,306

Interest expense (2,087) (719)

Fee and commission receipts 13,796 12,815

Dividend income 7 366 961

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (22,119) (17,464)

Other assets (5,248) (835)

Deposits with central banks - 249

Advances to banks under import finance - (12,500)

Loans and advances to customers (127,186) (245,984)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (50,000) -

Other liabilities 180,826 (141)

Net cash from operating activities 57,176 (224,312)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investment securities 18 (84,449) (189,196)

Capital repayments of investment securities 86,373 6,956

Disposal of property and equipment 98 74

Purchase of property and equipment 20 (1,531) (688)

Purchase of software/Intangibles 21 (752) (138)

Net cash from investment activities (261) (182,992)

Cash flows from financing activities

Borrowings 185,570 79,264

Dividend payments (14,970) -

Re- purchase of stock (52) (210)

Net cash from financing activities 170,548 79,054

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 227,463 (328,250)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 571,108 899,358

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 30 798,571 571,108

*The accompanying notes 41-83 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

Africa Finance Corporation (“AFC” or “the Corporation”) is an international organisation established   

by an international agreement between sovereign states.

AFC was created by two constitutive legal instruments: (i) the Agreement for the Establishment of the 

Africa Finance Corporation (the AFC Treaty) and (ii) the Charter of the Africa Finance Corporation (the 

AFC Charter). AFC is headquartered in the Federal Republic of Nigeria, based on the Headquarters 

Agreement dated 28 May 2007 between the Federal Republic of Nigeria and the Africa Finance 

Corporation. AFC's headquarters is located at 3a Osborne Road, Ikoyi, Lagos, Nigeria.

The Corporation's shareholders comprise African States, corporate entities such as major commercial 

banks and financial institutions and other private sector commercial entities.  The current member 

states are Nigeria, Ghana, Sierra Leone, Guinea Bissau, The Gambia, Liberia, Guinea Conakry and 

Chad.  Other potential member States are going through the process of achieving membership of the 

Corporation in accordance with their respective internal procedures.  

Twenty five (25) shareholders have thus far subscribed and paid for shares in AFC in accordance with 

the terms of the AFC Charter. As at 31 December 2012, the list of shareholders holding more than 5% 

of the issued share capital of the Corporation is as follows:

Name of Shareholder Percentage of shareholding (%)

Central Bank of Nigeria 42.5

United Bank of Africa Plc 10.7

Access Bank Plc 10.2

First Bank of Nigeria Plc 9.2*

WEMPCO Limited 4.6*

Gloria Investment Limited 4.6

*Related companies with combined shareholding of 9.2%

The Corporation's primary objective is to finance infrastructure, power, heavy industry, 

telecommunications, transport  and natural resources projects in Africa and to provide advisory, 

project development and other services related thereto.

The Corporation commenced operations on 1 November, 2007 after certain conditions prescribed in 

its constitutive instruments were fulfilled.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 were authorised and approved for 

issue by the Board of Directors on 4 March 2013. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The Principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 

below.  These policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The Corporation's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB). The financial statements are presented in United States Dollar (US$) rounded to the 

nearest thousand. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 

convention, except for derivative financial instruments, available-for-sale financial assets, 

financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, which have been 

measured at fair value.

The financial statements comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of 

financial position, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and explanatory 

notes.

The statement of cash flows shows the change in cash and cash equivalents during the year from 

operating, financing and investing activities.  Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid 

investments.  Note 30 shows which items of the statement of financial position are included in 

cash and cash equivalents.

The cash flow from operating activities is determined using the direct method.  The Corporation's 

assignment of cash flows to operating, financing and investing categories depends on the 

Corporation's business model (management approach).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise judgement in the process of 

applying the Corporation's accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant 

impact on the financial statements in the period the assumptions changed. The areas involving a 

higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 

significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Corporation

There are no IFRSs or International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 

interpretations that are effective for the first time for the financial year beginning on 1 

January, 2012 that would be expected to have a material impact on the Corporation.

(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been 

adopted early by the Corporation
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A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective 

for annual periods beginning after 1 January, 2012, and have not been applied in 

preparing these financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant effect 

on the financial statements of the Corporation, except the following:

Amendment to IAS 1, 'Presentation of Financial Statements' regarding other comprehensive 

income. The main change resulting from these amendments is a requirement for entities to 

group items presented in 'other comprehensive income' (OCI) on the basis of whether they 

are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). The 

amendments do not address which items are presented in OCI. The application of this 

amendment will mainly impact the presentation of the primary statements.

IAS 19, 'Employee benefits', was amended in June 2012. No impact is expected on the 

Corporation's financial statements.

IFRS 9, 'Financial instruments', addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of 

financial assets and financial liabilities. Issued in November 2009 and October 2011, it 

replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial 

instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement 

categories: those measured at fair value and those measured at amortised cost. The 

determination is made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity's 

business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow 

characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 

39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for 

financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity's own credit risk is 

recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the statement of comprehensive 

income, unless this creates an accounting mismatch. The directors are yet to assess IFRS 9's 

full impact and intend to adopt IFRS 9 no later than the accounting period beginning on or 

after 1 January 2015. The directors will also consider the impact of the remaining phases of 

IFRS 9 when completed by the IASB.

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected 

to have a material impact on the Corporation except the following:

IFRS 13, 'Fair value measurement', aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by 

providing a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and 

disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs. The requirements, which are largely aligned 

between IFRSs and US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), do not extend the use 

of fair value accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already 

required or permitted by other standards within IFRSs or US GAAP. The application of IFRS 13 may 

enhance fair value disclosures in many circumstances.
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2.2  Foreign currency translation

a) Functional and presentation currency

Items presented in the Corporation's financial statements are measured in its functional currency 

(United States Dollar) and figures are stated in thousands of Dollar.

b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 

settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income. 

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated with the closing rate as at the 

reporting date. If several exchange rates are available, the forward rate is used at which the future 

cash flows represented by the transaction or balance could have been settled if those cash flows 

had occurred. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost denominated in a foreign 

currency are translated with the exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition; non-monetary 

items in a foreign currency that are measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates 

at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as 

available-for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in the 

amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. 

Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, 

and other changes in the carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit or 

loss are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary 

items, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are included in the other 

comprehensive income.

2.3 Financial assets and liabilities

All financial assets and liabilities – which include derivative financial instruments – have to be 

recognised in the statement of financial position and measured in accordance with their assigned 

category.

2.3.1 Financial Assets

The Corporation classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; and 

available-for-sale financial assets. Management determines the classification at initial 

recognition. The Corporation uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when 

recording financial asset transactions (see note 3.7 on financial instruments by category).
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(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated 

at fair value through profit or loss at inception.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the 

purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified 

financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent 

actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading 

unless they are designated and effective as hedging instruments.  All derivatives are carried 

as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. Financial 

assets held for trading consist of debt instruments, including money-market paper, traded 

corporate loans, and equity instruments, as well as financial assets with embedded 

derivatives. They are recognised in the statement of financial position as 'Financial assets 

held for trading'. 

The Corporation designates certain financial assets upon initial recognition as at fair value 

through profit or loss (fair value option). This designation cannot subsequently be changed 

and can only be applied when the following conditions are met:

Ÿ the application of the fair value option reduces or eliminates an accounting mismatch 

that would otherwise arise or

Ÿ the financial assets are part of a portfolio of financial instruments which is risk managed 

and reported to senior management on a fair value basis or

Ÿ the financial assets consist of debt host and an embedded derivative that must be 

separated. 

Financial instruments included in this category are recognised initially at fair value; 

transaction costs are taken directly to profit or loss. Gains and losses arising from changes in 

fair value are included directly in profit or loss and are reported as 'Net gains/ (losses) on 

financial instruments classified as held for trading'. Interest income and expense and 

dividend income and expenses on financial assets held for trading are included in 'Net 

interest income' or 'Dividend income', respectively. Fair value changes relating to financial 

assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in 'Net gains on 

financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss'. 

Equity investments that result in the Corporation having a significant influence, but not 

control, over the financial and operating policies of the investee companies are carried in the 

statement of financial position as at fair value through profit or loss rather than accounted for 

as associates using the equity method of accounting.  

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than: 
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(a) those that the Corporation intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which are 

classified as held for trading, and those that the Corporation upon initial recognition 

designates as at fair value through profit or loss; or 

(b) those that the Corporation upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or

(c) those for which the Corporation may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, 

other than because of credit deterioration.

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration 

to originate or purchase the loan including any transaction costs – and measured 

subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(c) Held-to-maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments and fixed maturities that the Corporation's management has the positive intention 

and ability to hold to maturity, other than:

(a) those that the Corporation upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through 

profit or loss; 

(b) those that the Corporation designates as available-for-sale; and

(c) those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.

These are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs 

and measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Interest on held-to-maturity investments is included in the statement of comprehensive 

income and reported as 'interest and similar income'. In the case of an impairment, the 

impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the investment and 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as 'net gains/ (losses) on investments. 

Held-to-maturity investments are corporate and sovereign securities. 

(d) Available-for-Sale

Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, 

which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange 

rates or equity prices or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity 

investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale investments are recognized initially at fair value plus transaction costs and 

are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from re-measurement are 

recognized in other comprehensive income except for exchange gains and losses on the 

translation of debt securities, which are recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

When an available-for-sale investment is sold or impaired, the accumulated gains or losses 

are moved from other comprehensive income to the statement of income and are included 

in “other gains and losses (net)”. 
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Available-for-sale investments are classified as non-current, unless an investment matures 

within twelve months, or management expects to dispose of it within twelve months. Interest 

on available-for-sale debt instruments, calculated using the effective interest method, is 

recognized in the statement of income as part of interest income. Dividends on available-for-

sale equity instruments are recognized in the statement of income as dividend income when 

the Corporation's right to receive payment is established.

2.3.2 Financial Liabilities

The Corporation's holding in financial liabilities represents mainly borrowings and other 

liabilities. Such financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost.

(a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

This category comprises two sub-categories: financial liabilities classified as held for trading 

and financial liabilities designated by the Corporation at fair value through profit or loss 

upon initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for 

the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of 

identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of 

a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held 

for trading unless they are designated and effective as hedging instruments. Financial 

liabilities held for trading also include obligations to deliver financial assets borrowed where 

the Corporation is a short seller. Those financial instruments are recognised in the statement 

of financial position as 'Financial liabilities held for trading'.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial liabilities classified as held for 

trading are included in the statement of comprehensive income and are reported as 'Net 

gains/(losses) on financial instruments classified as held for trading'. Interest expenses on 

financial liabilities held for trading are included in 'Net interest income'.

Where the Corporation designates certain debt securities upon initial recognition as at fair 

value through profit or loss (fair value option); this designation cannot be changed 

subsequently. 

There are no financial liabilities classified as held for trading or specifically designated at fair 

value through profit or loss  as at 31 December 2012.

(b) Other liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not classified  at fair value through profit or loss fall into this 

category and are measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities measured at amortised 

cost are borrowings, debt securities in issue for which the fair value option is not applied, 
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convertible bonds and subordinated debts.

2.3.3 Determination of fair value

For financial instruments traded in active markets, the determination of fair value of financial 

assets and financial liabilities is based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. 

This includes listed equity securities and quoted debt instruments on major exchanges and 

broker quotes from Bloomberg Inc. and Thompson Reuters. 

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily 

and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or 

regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market 

transactions on an arm's length basis. If the above criteria are not met, the market is 

regarded as being inactive. Indicators that a market is inactive are when there is a wide bid-

offer spread or significant increase in the bid-offer spread or there are few recent 

transactions.

For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. In 

these techniques, fair values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar 

financial instruments, using models to estimate the present value of expected future cash 

flows or other valuation techniques, using inputs (for example, LIBOR yield curve, foreign 

exchange  rates, volatilities and counterparty spreads) existing at the dates of the statement 

of financial position

The Corporation, in circumstances whereby this is applicable, uses widely recognised 

valuation models for determining fair values of non-standardised financial instruments of 

lower complexity.  Inputs into models are generally market-observable for these financial 

instruments.

For more complex instruments, the Corporation uses internally developed models, which are 

usually based on valuation methods and techniques generally recognised as standard within 

the industry. Valuation models are used primarily to value derivatives transacted in the over-

the-counter market, unlisted debt securities (including those with embedded derivatives), 

unlisted equity and other debt instruments for which markets were or have become illiquid. 

Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore 

estimated based on assumptions. 

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be 

determined with certainty, and valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors 

relevant to the positions the Corporation holds. Valuations are therefore adjusted, where 

appropriate, to allow for additional factors including model risks, liquidity risk and 

counterparty credit risk. Based on the established fair value model governance policies, and 

related controls and procedures applied, management believes that these valuation 

adjustments are necessary and appropriate to fairly state the values of financial instruments 

carried at fair value in the statement of financial position. Price data and parameters used in 

the measurement procedures applied are generally reviewed carefully and adjusted, if 
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necessary – particularly in view of current market developments.

In cases where the fair value of unlisted equity instruments cannot be determined reliably, the 

instruments are carried at cost less impairment. 

The fair value of contingent liabilities and irrevocable loan commitments correspond to their 

carrying amounts.

2.4 Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these 

assets have ceased to exist or the assets have been transferred and substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the assets are also transferred (that is, if substantially all the risks and 

rewards have not been transferred, the Corporation tests control to ensure that continuing 

involvement on the basis of any retained powers of control does not prevent derecognition). 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished. 

2.5 Reclassification of financial assets

The Corporation may choose to reclassify a non-derivative financial asset held for trading out of 

the held for trading category if the financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling it in 

the near-term. Financial assets other than loans and receivables are permitted to be reclassified 

out of the held for trading category only in rare circumstances arising from a single event that is 

unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near-term. In addition, the Corporation may choose to 

reclassify financial assets that would meet the definition of loans and receivables out of the held 

for trading or available-for-sale categories if the Corporation has the intention and ability to hold 

these financial assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the date of reclassification. 

Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the reclassification date. Fair value becomes the new 

cost or amortised cost as applicable, and no reversals of fair value gains or losses recorded 

before reclassification date are subsequently made.  Effective interest rates for financial assets 

reclassified to loans and receivables and held-to-maturity categories are determined at the 

reclassification date. Further increases in estimates of cash flows adjust effective interest rates 

prospectively.On reclassification of a financial asset out of the 'at fair value through profit or loss' 

category, all embedded derivatives are re-assessed and, if necessary, separately accounted for. 

2.6 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of financial 

position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 

intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.7  Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within 

'interest income' and 'interest expense' in the statement of comprehensive income using the 

effective interest method.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a 

financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant 

period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 

or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 

period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.  The calculation 

includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the 

effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of 

an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the 

future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

2.8 Fee and commission income

Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been 

provided except for structuring fees (i.e. fees related to structuring, term sheet negotiation and 

coordination) which are recognised at the completion of work. Commitment fees for loans that 

are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct costs) and recognised as an 

adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. Commission and fees arising from 

negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party – such as the 

arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities, or the purchase or sale of businesses 

– are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other management 

advisory and service fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts, usually on a 

time-apportioned basis. Performance-linked fees or fee components are recognised when the 

performance criteria are fulfilled.

2.9  Sale and repurchase agreements

Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements 'repos' are reclassified in the financial 

statements as pledged assets when the transferee has the right by contract or custom to sell or re-

pledge the collateral. Where this right to sell or re-pledge does not exist, the transferee does not 

reclassify the assets but discloses  the 'repos' as a note in the financial statements. the 

counterparty liability is included in amounts due to other banks, deposits from banks, other 

deposits or deposits due to customers, as appropriate. Securities purchased under agreements to 

resell (reverse repos) are recorded as loans and advances to other banks or customers, as 

appropriate. The difference between the sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and 

accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective interest method. Securities lent to 

counterparties are also retained in the financial statements.

2.10  Impairment of financial assets

a) Assets carried at amortised cost

The Corporation assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective 

evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a 

group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 
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evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after initial recognition of 

the asset (a loss event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash 

flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Objective 

evidence that a financial asset or a group of assets is impaired includes observable data that 

comes to the attention of the Corporation about the following loss events:-

a) significant financial difficulty of the borrower;

b) a breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal repayments;

c) the corporation granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the 

borrower's financial difficulty, a concession that the Corporation would not otherwise 

consider;

d) it has become probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation;

e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 

difficulties; or

f) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 

flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although 

the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the Corporation, 

including:

- adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the Corporation; or 

- national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the  

Corporation.

The Corporation first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 

financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets 

that are not individually significant. If the Corporation determines that no objective evidence of 

impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it 

includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 

collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment 

and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a 

collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the 

present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been 

incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of 

the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.  If a loan or held-to-maturity asset has a 

variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective 

interest rate determined under the contract.  As a practical expedient, the Corporation may 

measure impairment on the basis of an instrument's fair value using an observable market price.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated cash flows of a collateralised financial asset 

reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the 

collateral, whether or not the foreclosure is probable.
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For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the 

basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Corporation's grading process 

that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and 

other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant for the estimation of future cash flows for 

groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors' ability to pay all amounts due according 

to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are 

estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the Corporation and historical 

loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Corporation.  

Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects 

of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based 

and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not currently exist.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect, and be directionally 

consistent with, changes in related observable data from period to period (for example, changes 

in unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in 

the probability of losses in the Corporation and their magnitude). The methodology and 

assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Corporation to 

reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. 

Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the 

amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 

decrease the amount of provision for loan impairment in the statement of comprehensive 

income. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 

decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised 

(such as an improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss 

is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income.

b) Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Corporation assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective 

evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity 

investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 

the security below its cost is considered in determining whether the assets are impaired. If any 

such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the 

difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 

financial asset previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income – is removed 

from equity and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If, in a subsequent period, 

the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can 

be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or 

loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
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2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 

annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 

recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For 

the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 

separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). The impairment test also can be 

performed on a single asset when the fair value less cost to sell or the value in use can be 

determined reliably. Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 

reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances 

with less than three month's maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash and non-

restricted balances with central banks, treasury bills and other eligible bills, loans and advances to 

banks, amounts due from other banks and short term government securities.

2.13 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is 

entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from 

quoted market prices in active markets (for example, for exchange-traded options), including 

recent market transactions, and valuation techniques (for example, for swaps and currency 

transactions) including discounted cash flow models and options pricing models, as appropriate. 

All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is 

negative.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, such as the conversion option in a 

purchased convertible bond, are treated as separate derivatives when their economic 

characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract 

is not carried at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are separately 

accounted for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income unless the Corporation chooses to designate the hybrid contracts at fair 

value through profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting 

are recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income under 'net gains/(losses) 

on financial instruments classified as held for trading'. However, the gains and losses arising from 

changes in the fair value of derivatives that are managed in conjunction with financial assets or 

financial liabilities designated at fair value are included in 'net gains on financial instruments 

designated at fair value'.
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2.14 Hedge accounting

Derivatives are used to hedge interest rate, exchange rate, commodity, and equity exposures and 

exposures related to non-trading positions. Where derivatives are held for risk management 

purposes, and when transactions meet the required criteria, the Corporation applies fair value 

hedge accounting, cash flow hedge accounting, or hedging of a net investment in a foreign 

operation as appropriate to the risks being hedged. When a financial instrument is designated as 

a hedge, the Corporation formally documents the relationship between the hedging instrument 

and hedged item as well as its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking the 

various hedging transactions. The Corporation also documents its assessment, both at hedge 

inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging 

transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

The Corporation discontinues hedge accounting when:

a) it is determined that a derivative is not, or has ceased to be, highly effective as a hedge;

b) the derivative expires, is terminated, or exercised;

c) the hedged item matures or is repaid

a) Fair value hedge accounting

Changes in fair value of derivatives that qualify and are designated as fair value hedges are 

recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, together with changes in the fair value of the 

hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. If the hedge relationship no 

longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, it is discontinued. For fair value hedges of interest 

rate risk, the fair value adjustment to the hedged item is amortised to the statement of 

comprehensive income over the period to maturity of the previously designated hedge 

relationship using the effective interest method. If the hedged item is sold or repaid, the 

unamortised fair value adjustment is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive 

income.

b) Cash flow hedges

For qualifying cash flow hedges, the fair value gain or loss associated with the effective portion of 

the cash flow hedge is recognised initially in shareholders' equity, and recycled to the statement of 

comprehensive income in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss. Any 

ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income immediately. When a hedging instrument expires or when a hedge no 

longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at 

that time remains in equity and is recognised when the hedged item is ultimately recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income. 

c) Hedges of net investments

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations, including monetary items that are accounted for 

as part of the net investment, are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges; the effective 

portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity and the 

ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income. The 
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cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income on the disposal or partial disposal of the foreign operation, or other 

reductions in the Corporation's investment in the operation.

Hedges of net investments may include non-derivative liabilities as well as derivative financial 

instruments.

2.15 Property and equipment

All property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment. 

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or are recognised as a separate 

asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 

item will flow to the Corporation and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 

amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 

the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost to residual value over 

estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvement 25 years or over the period of the lease, if less.

Furniture and equipment 3 - 8 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 

each reporting period.

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An asset's carrying 

amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is 

greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the 

asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.  

These are included in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.16 Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable items arising from computer software licences and 

other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognised at cost. Intangible assets with definite 

useful lives are amortised using the straight-line method over the estimated useful economic life. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised. At each date of the statement of 

financial position, intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in 

estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the intangibles assets are analysed to 

assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised if the 
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carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The Corporation chooses to use the cost 

model for the measurement after recognition. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are 

annually tested for impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 

impaired.

a) Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire 

and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised on the basis of the expected 

useful lives.

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs are recognised as 

an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and 

unique software products controlled by the Corporation, and that will generate economic benefits 

exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include the 

software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Computer software costs recognised as assets are amortised using the straight-line method over 

3 years.

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and 

unique software products controlled by the Corporation are recognised as intangible assets when 

the following criteria are met:

(i) It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use.

(ii) Management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it.

(iii) There is an ability to use or sell the software product.

(iv) It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic 

benefits.

(v) Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use 

or sell the software product are available; and

(vi) The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably 

measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as 

incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset 

in a subsequent period.

b) Project Development Expenditure

Costs associated with development  of projects are capitalised when they meet the following 

recognition requirements of IAS 38: (i) the cost can be separated from other costs of the business; 

(ii) future economic benefits will flow to the Corporation;  (iii) the cost can be measured reliably.
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2.17 Employee Benefits

The Corporation established a defined contributory pension scheme in the year under review. This 

is a pension plan under which the Corporation pays fixed contributions (7.5% of basic salary) and 

employees contribute a minium of 5% of their basic salary into a separate entity. 

The Corporation has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund 

does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the 

current and prior periods. 

The Corporation has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The 

contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense in the statement of comprehensive 

income when it falls due. 

2.18 Provisions

Provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Corporation has a 

present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount can be reliably estimated. 

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 

settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  A provision is 

recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same 

class of obligations is small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle 

the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to passage of 

time is recognised as interest expense.

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of 

consideration received) net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at 

amortised cost; any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption 

value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowing 

using the effective interest method.

2.20 Share capital

a) Share issue costs

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options or to the acquisition of 

a business are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.
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b) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the year  in which they are approved by 

the Corporation's shareholders.

c) Treasury shares

Where the Corporation purchase its equity shares, the consideration paid is deducted from total 

shareholders' equity as treasury shares until they are cancelled.  Where such shares are 

subsequently sold or re-issued, any consideration received is included in shareholders' equity.

2.21 Dividend income and payment

Dividends are recognised in profit or loss when the Corporation's right to receive payment is 

established. Dividends on ordinary shares are charged to equity in the period in which they are 

declared.

2.22 Acceptances and letters of credit

Acceptances and letters of credit are accounted for as off-balance sheet transactions and 

disclosed as contingent liabilities.

2.23 Comparatives

Except when a standard or an interpretation permits or requires otherwise, all amounts are 

reported or disclosed with comparative information. Where IAS 8 applies, comparative figures 

have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year.

3. Financial Risk Management

AFC's business philosophy recognises that risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. 

The Corporation's aim, therefore, is not to eliminate all risks, but to design policies; processes and 

procedures that will enable it achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return. AFC believes 

that a strong risk management function is key to its successful long-term operations. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

AFC operates a multi-layered risk management governance structure, with the Board of Directors at 

the apex of the structure, exercising and assuming ultimate authority and responsibility for the 

Corporation's risk management. Other layers in the risk management governance structure are: (i) the 

Board Risk and Investment Committee, responsible for oversight and approval of risk policies, and 

credit approvals above management's authority levels; (ii) Executive Management Committee (EXCO) 

responsible for review of investment proposals, and exercise of management's delegated authority for 

investment approvals; (iii) Management Risk Committee, responsible for the risk policy review and 

implementation; (iv) Risk Management Division, responsible for risk policy development, 

management and monitoring; and (v) Business Units, responsible for the creation and management 

of risk assets.
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The most important types of risks faced by the Corporation are credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and 

operational risk. These individual sources of risk and how the Corporation manages them are 

described in more detail below. 

     

3.1 Credit Risk

The Corporation takes on exposures to credit risk, which is the risk of financial loss as a result of a 

failure by a client or counterparty to meet its contractual obligation to the Corporation.  The 

Corporation has two principal sources of credit risk: (i) credit risk on its loans and investments; 

and (ii) counterparty credit risk on its portfolio of treasury investments.  The first source of credit 

risk has become increasingly significant as the level of the Corporation's investment portfolio has 

risen.  The Corporation's credit risks are managed within a framework of credit policies, 

guidelines and processes, which are described in more detail in 3.1.1 and 3.1.2 below.

3.1.1 Project and Investment Credit Risk

The Corporation has developed a comprehensive Credit Risk Policy (CRP) that details its risk 

philosophy and metrics.  The CRP defines the level and type of credit exposures that AFC is 

prepared to accept in order to achieve its business goals and objectives.  It defines the 

Corporation's risk appetite along three key metrics; Capital Adequacy Framework, Exposure 

Limits Framework and Credit Risk Acceptance criteria.

AFC's Capital Adequacy Framework creates a quantifiable link between the risks 

assumed and the amount of risk capital required to support those risks.  The 

capital adequacy framework ensures that the Corporation holds adequate levels of 

capital to support its investment operations.

AFC uses the Exposure Limits Framework to manage its exposures to individual and group 

credit risks.  The objective is to ensure that AFC avoids excessive portfolio concentration 

either in single projects or groups of projects, or in particular sectors that could be 

simultaneously affected by similar exogenous events.  The Exposure Limits Framework 

defines the limits of risk exposures in relation to a single borrower or groups of borrowers, to 

industry sectors and to individual countries.  The limits are recommended by management 

and approved by the Board Risk and Investment Committee.

The Credit Risk Acceptance Criteria refer to the set of terms and conditions to be met before 

an investment is accepted into AFC's portfolio.  These include specific industry, financial, 

managerial and competitive benchmarks that proposed investments must attain before they 

are considered for AFC credit exposures.

3.1.2 Counterparty Credit Risk

AFC invests its liquid resources in different financial instruments to generate income. These 

financial instruments involve, to some degree, the risk that the counterparty to the transaction 

may be unable to meet its obligation to the Corporation when it falls due. The Corporation 
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manages this counterparty risk by executing transactions within a prudent framework of 

approved counterparties, counterparty credit rating standards and counterparty risk exposures 

limits. The risk exposure limit for each counterparty is a function of the counterparty's credit 

rating and its shareholders funds (unimpaired by losses). The risk limits are proposed by the 

Risk Management Division and approved by the Executive Management Committee.

3.1.3 Credit risk measurement

The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a 

product varies with changes in market variables, expected cash flows and the passage of time. 

The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the 

likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations 

between counterparties.

The Corporation has developed models to support the quantification of credit risk. These 

rating and scoring models are in use for all key credit portfolios and form the basis for 

measuring default risks. In measuring credit risk of loan and advances at a counterparty level, 

the Corporation considers three components: (i) the 'probability of default' (PD) by the client or 

counterparty on its contractual obligations; (ii) current exposures to the counterparty and its 

likely future development, from which the Corporation derive the 'exposure at default' (EAD); 

and (iii) the likely recovery ratio on the defaulted obligations (the 'loss given default') (LGD). The 

models are reviewed regularly to monitor their robustness relative to actual performance and 

amended as necessary to optimise their effectiveness.

3.1.4 Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Corporation manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are 

identified -  in particular, to individual counterparties and corporations, and to industries and 

countries. The Corporation structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on 

the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or group of borrowers, and to 

geographical and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and 

subject to an annual or more frequent review, when considered necessary. Limits on the level 

of credit risk by product, industry sector and country are approved by the Board Risk and 

Investment Committee.

3.1.5 Credit Concentration
Maximum exposure

2012 2011
US$'000 US$'000

Balances with central and commercial banks 193,166 12,769

Loan and advances to banks 633,467 587,867

Loan and advances to other customers 465,210 339,869

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 86,545 8,313

Investment Securities 304,625 299,436

Other assets 4,897 2,283

At 31 December 1,687,910 1,250,537
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The above table represents a worse case scenario of credit risk exposure of the Corporation 

as at the reporting dates without taking account of any collateral held or other credit 

enhancements attached.  The exposures are based on net carrying amounts as reported in 

the statement of financial position.

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and effectively manage the credit 

risk exposure in the Corporation's loan and advances portfolio.

3.1.6 Loans and advances

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Loans and advances are summarised as follows:

- loans and advances to banks 633,467 587,867

- loans and advances to other customers 465,210 339,869

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 50,243 -

Neither past due nor impaired 1,148,920 927,736

The Corporation has no provision for loans and advances as at 31 December 2012 

because no loans and advances were considered to be impaired (2011: Nil).

The credit quality of the loans and advances to banks and other customers that are neither 

past due nor impaired are detailed below:

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Counterparties with international credit rating

(S&P, Fitch, GCR)

Investment grade (AAA, AA+, AA, AA-, A+, A, A- 373,115 180,643

BBB+, BBB, BBB-, )

Standard monitoring (BB+, BB, BB-, B+, B, B-) 350,715 446,796

723,830 627,439

Counterparties without international credit ratings

Group 1 100,578 117,993

Group 2 324,512 182,304

425,090 300,297

Total unimpaired nor past due loans

and advances to Banks 1,148,920 927,736

Group 1 – New customers/related parties (less than 6 months).

Group 2 – Existing customers/related parties (more than 6 months) with no defaults in the 

past.

The counterparties without international credit rating have been subject to the Corporation's 

internal rating process as part of its credit approval and review process.

61

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2012

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING | BRIDGING THE INVESTMENT DIVIDE



3.1.7 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure

Geographical sectors

The following table analyses the Corporation's main credit exposures at their carrying 

amounts, categorised by geographical region, as at 31 December 2012.  The Corporation 

has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of its counterparties.

West Africa Others Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Cash and balances with central and

commercial banks 371 192,795 193,166

Loans and advances to banks 190,218 443,249 633,467

Loans and advances to other customers 285,988 179,222 465,210

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 36,223 50,322 86,545

Investment securities 234,000 70,625 304,625

Other assets 4,897 - 4,897

As at 31 December 2012 751,697 936,213 1,687,910

Cash and balances with central and

commercial banks 3,316 9,453 12,769

Loans and advances to banks 282,636 305,231 587,867

Loans and advances to other customers 170,211 169,658 339,869

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 8,234 79 8,313

Investment securities 196,245 103,191 299,436

Other assets 2,283 - 2,283

As at 31 December 2011 662,925 587,612 1,250,537

3.2 Market Risk

AFC takes on exposures to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from 

open positions in interest rates, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general 

and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such 

as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Corporation had 

no trading portfolios as at 31 December 2012 (December 2011: nil).
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3.2.1 Market risk measurement techniques

As part of the management of market risk, the Corporation undertakes various hedging 

strategies with hedge accounting. 

The major measurement techniques used to measure and control market risk are outlined 

below.

(a) Value at Risk

The Corporation applies “value at risk” (VAR)  methodology to quantify and control market 

risk of assets and liabilities designated at fair value. This methodology is applied to individual 

portfolios and on an enterprise wide basis.

VAR is a statistically based estimate of the maximum expected loss on the current portfolio 

from adverse market movements. This maximum expected loss is dtermined with a level of 

confidence (95%) and a holding period (1 day). This implies that realized lossess may exceed 

the VAR estimate 5 days out of every 100 days. This assumption is monitored daily by 

comparing realized gains/losses against the VAR estimate. The variant of VAR used by the 

Corporation is Historical Simulation VAR. This variant has an implicit assumption that future 

market movements are similar to historical market movements.

As VAR constitutes an integral part of the Corporation's market risk control regime, VAR limits 

are established by the Board annually and allocated to business units. Actual exposure 

against limits, together with a Corporation-wide VAR, is reviewed daily. Average daily FX VAR 

is $81,837 (2011: $67,000) and  average daily Interest Rate VAR is $1,192,348 (2011: 

$1,085,647). The quality of the VAR model is continuously monitored by back-testing the 

VAR estimates against actuals. All back-testing exceptions (positive or negative) are 

investigated, and reported to ALCO monthly.

(b) Stress Test

Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of losses that could arise in extreme 

conditions. The Corporation carries out stress tests for its core investment and treasury 

portfolios.

The Board Risk and Investment Committee agrees the range of scenarios to be tested and the 

independent risk management function co-ordinates the process, using bottom-up analysis 

performed by the businesses. The results of the stress tests are reviewed by the Executive 

Management and the Board Risk and Investment Committee.
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3.2.2 Foreign exchange risk

The Corporation takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign 

currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Board sets limits on the 

level of exposure by currency, which is monitored. The table below summarizes the 

Corporation's exposure to foreign exchange rate risk at 31 December 2012. Included in the 

table are the Corporation's financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by 

currency.

Concentrations of currency risk – on-balance sheet financial instruments

31 December 2012 Dollar Others Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets

Cash and balances with central 

and commercial banks 193,050 116 193,166

Loans and advances to banks 632,891 576 633,467

Loans and advances to other customers 465,210 - 465,210

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 84,232 2,313 86,545

Investment securities 269,822 34,803 304,625

Other assets 3,327 1,570 4,897

Total financial assets 1,648,532 39,378 1,687,910

Liabilities

Borrowings 266,285 - 266,285

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 193,438 542 193,980

Total financial liabilities 459,723 542 460,265

Net financial position 1,188,809 38,836 1,227,645

VAR summary for 2012 and 2011

12 months to 31 December 2012 12 months to 31 December 2011

Average High Low Average High Low

All numbers in US$'000

Foreign exchange risk 82 290 1  67 285 8

Interest rate risk 1,192 2,367 881 1,085 1,410 11

Total VAR 1,274 2,657 882 1,152 1,695 19
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31 December 2011 Dollar Others Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets

Cash and balances with central 

and commercial banks 10,765 2,004 12,769

Loans and advances to banks 587,867 - 587,867

Loans and advances to other customers 339,869 - 339,869

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6,000 2,313 8,313

Investment securities 274,064 25,372 299,436

Other assets 426 1,857 2,283

Total financial assets 1,218,991 31,546 1,250,537

Borrowings 80,126 - 80,126

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 7,328 412 7,740

Total financial liabilities 87,454 412 87,866

Net on balance sheet financial position 1,131,537 31,134 1,162,671

3.2.3 Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk 

that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 

rates. The Corporation takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels 

of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may 

increase as a result of such changes but may produce losses in the event that unexpected 

movements arise. The board sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that 

may be undertaken.

The table below summarises the Corporation's exposure to interest rate risks.  It includes the 

Corporation's financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of 

contractual repricing or maturity dates.
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As at 31 December 2012

Up to 3 Above 3 Non Interest

months months Bearing Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets

Cash and balances with central and 

Commercial banks 11,055 - 182,111 193,166

Loans and advances to banks 608,467 25,000 - 633,467

Loans and advances to customers 401,920 63,290 - 465,210

Financial assets at fair value

 through profit or loss 50,243 - 36,302 86,545

Investment securities 67,511 137,281 99,833 304,625

Other assets - - 4,897 4,897

Total financial assets 1,139,196 225,571 323,143 1,687,910

Liabilities

Borrowings 266,285 - - 266,285

Other liabilities - - 193,980 193,980

Total financial liabilities 266,285 -    193,980 460,265

Total interest repricing gap 872,911 225,571 129,163 1,227,645

As at 31 December 2011

Up to 3 Above 3 Non Interest

months months Bearing Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets

Cash and balances with central and 

Commercial banks 12,760 - 9 12,769

Loans and advances to banks 557,867 30,000 - 587,867

Loans and advances to customers 327,807 12,062 - 339,869

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss - - 8,313 8,313

Investment securities 41,717 175,458 82,261 299,436

Other assets - - 2,283 2,283

Total financial assets 940,151 217,520 92,866 1,250,537

Liabilities

Borrowings - 80,126 - 80,126

Other liabilities - - 7,740 7,740

Total financial laibilities - 80,126 7,740 87,866

Total interest repricing gap 940,151 137,394 85,126 1,162,671
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3.3 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation is unable to meet its payment obligations associated 

with its financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The 

consequence may be the failure to meet obligations to repay lenders and fulfil commitments to 

lend.  

The Corporation's liquidity management process includes:

- day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements 

can be met; 

- monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal requirements; and 

- managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.  

The Corporation holds a diversified portfolio of cash and high-quality liquid assets to support 

financial obligations and contingent funding in a stressed market environment. The Corporation's 

assets held for managing liquidity risk comprise: 

- cash and balances with central and commercial banks; and

- loan and advances to banks.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the month. 

The starting point for those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial 

liabilities and the expected collection date of the financial assets. 

It is the policy of the Corporation to keep its 'Minimum Liquidity Level' (MLL) at eighteen months at 

all times. MLL, for the purpose of the Corporation, is defined as the level of liquidity that is 

available to meet the Corporation's financial obligations (repayment of borrowing, operating 

expenses and other non-cancellable debt and equity commitments) over the next eighteen 

months. As at 31 December 2012, the Corporation's MLL was in excess of eighteen months 

(2011: > eighteen months).

The table below analyses the Corporation's financial instruments into relevant maturity groupings 

based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position  date to the contractual 

maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

Above

Up to 3 months  3 months Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

As at 31 December 2012

Total financial liabilities 194,838 266,285 461,123

(Contractual maturity dates)

Total financial assets 864,831 823,079 1,687,910

(Contractual maturity dates)
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Above

Up to 3 months  3 months Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

As at 31 December 2011

Total financial liabilities 7,740 80,126 87,866

(Contractual maturity dates)

Total financial assets 833,414 417,123 1,250,537

(Contractual maturity dates)

3.4 Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people 

and systems, or from external events.  It includes the risk of failing to comply with applicable laws 

and regulations as well as reputation and franchise risks associated with the Corporation's 

business practice or market conduct.  Failure to manage and adequately control operational 

risks could result in significant financial losses.  Potentially, it could also result in damage to the 

Corporation's reputation which could undermine growth by reducing client base.

AFC's operational risk procedures comprise of: identification and assessment of key operational 

risks; establishment and monitoring of key risk indicators; and comprehensive reporting of 

operational risk to executive management and the Board of Directors.  The primary responsibility 

for managing operational risks, on a day-to-day basis, lies with the business and support 

functions.  Each business and support function has established processes and controls to address 

the operational risks inherent in their activities.

The Board Risk and Investment Committee has approved the Corporation's operational risk 

management framework, which is being implemented by the executive management, with the 

Risk Management Committee providing oversight.  The committee receives regular reporting of 

operational risk exposures and loss events and also reviews the results of the quarterly Risk and 

Control Self Assessments.  The Chief Risk Officer is responsible for the independence, objectivity 

and effectiveness of the Corporation's operational risk framework.  A database of operational risk 

events is maintained which indicates operational risk exposures.

3.5 Capital Management

The Corporation's objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the 'equity' 

on the face of the statement of financial position are:

Ÿ to comply with the capital requirements set by the Board of Directors of the Corporation;

Ÿ to safeguard the Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue 

to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

Ÿ to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.
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Capital adequacy is monitored regularly by the Corporation's management, employing 

techniques derived from the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee.

The Corporation's Capital Adequacy Framework requires the business to maintain a ratio of total 

risk capital to the risk-weighted asset (the Basel ratio) at a minimum of 30%.

The Corporation's capital is managed by the Finance and Treasury Division and currently 

comprises of Tier 1 (99.4%) and Tier 2 (0.6%) capital as shown below:

Tier 1: Comprises of share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations 

of retained earnings.

Tier 2: Comprises of unrealised gains arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as 

available-for-sale.

The risk weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of risk weights classified 

according to the nature of (and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated 

with) each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees.  A 

similar treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the 

more contingent nature of the potential losses.

The table below summarises the composition of capital and the ratios of the Corporation for the 

year ended 31 December 2012. The Corporation has no externally imposed capital 

requirements, but complied with its own internal rules during the year under review.

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Tier 1 capital

Share capital 1,089,067 1,089,117

Retained earnings 139,909 78,790

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital 1,228,976 1,167,907

Tier 2 capital

Net fair valuation gain on 

available-for-sale assets 7,113 -

Total qualifying capital 1,236,089 1,167,907

Risk-weighted assets:

On-balance sheet 1,362,601 1,125,221

Off-balance sheet 59,078 18,191

Total risk-weighted assets 1,421,679 1,143,412

Basel ratio 86.9% 102.1%
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3.6 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Effective 1 January 2009, the Corporation adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for the financial 

instruments that are measured in the statement of financial position at fair value. This requires 

disclosures of fair value measurement by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

Ÿ Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

Ÿ Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the assets or 

liabilities, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

Ÿ Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Corporation's financial assets that are measured at fair value at 

31 December 2012.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Derivatives - 296 -

Financial assets at fair value  through profit or loss - 50,243 36,302

Investment securities - - 99,833

Total assets - 50,539 136,135

31 December 2011

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - 8,313

Investment securities - -  82,261

Total assets - - 90,574

Reconciliation of level 3 items

US$'000

At January 2012 90,574

Purchases 10,917

Capital repayments (458)

Net fair valuation gain 35,102

At December 2012 136,135

For level 3 classifications, the Corporation adopts the Venture Capital Association Valuation 

guidelines in arriving at the fair valuation of its equity securities. The techniques applied include 

but not limited to: (a) discounted cash flow analysis, (b) use of comparables to obtain the Earnings 

Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) multiples and (c) the net assets value 

approach.  
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3.7 Financial instruments by category

31 December 2012

Assets as per statement of financial position

Fair value 
Loans & through Available- Held-to-

Receivables Profit or loss for-sale Maturity Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Derivatives - 296 - - 296

Investment securities 43,030 - 99,833 161,762 304,625

Loan and other receivables

excluding pre-payments 490,289 - - - 490,289

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss - 86,545 - - 86,545

Cash and cash equivalents 798,571 - - - 798,571

Net book amount 1,331,890 86,841 99,833 161,762 1,680,326

31 December 2011

Assets as per statement of financial position

Fair value 
Loans & through Available- Held-to-

Receivables Profit or loss for-sale Maturity Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Investment securities 36,688 - 82,261 180,487 299,436

Loan and other receivables

excluding pre-payments 364,889 - - - 364,889

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss - 8,313 - - 8,313

Cash and cash equivalents 571,108 - - - 571,108

Net book amount 972,685 8,313 82,261 180,487 1,243,746
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

AFC's financial statements and its financial result are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions, 

estimates and management judgement, which necessarily have to be made in the course of 

preparation of the financial statements. 

The Corporation makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year.  Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 

based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Corporation reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment on an ongoing basis.  In 

determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive 

income, the Corporation makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data 

indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio 

of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio.  This 

evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the 

payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate 

with defaults on asset in the Corporation.  Management uses estimates based on knowledge of 

the client business and agreed worked out solutions when scheduling its future cash flows.  The 

methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash 

flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss 

experience.

(b) Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments

The Corporation determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there 

has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below cost.  The determination of 

what is significant or prolonged requires judgement.  In making this judgement, the Corporation 

evaluates among other factors, the normal volatility in share price.  In addition, impairment may 

be appropriate when there is evidence of a deterioration in the financial health of the investee, 

industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash 

flows.

(c) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments where no active market exists or where quoted prices are 

not otherwise available are determined by using valuation techniques. In these cases, the fair 

values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments or using 

models. Where market observable inputs are not available, they are estimated based on 

appropriate assumptions. Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to 

determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel 

independent of those that sourced them. All models are certified before they are used, and 

models are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices. 

To the extent practical, models use only observable data; however, areas such as credit risk (both 

own credit risk and counterparty risk), volatilities and correlations require management to make 

estimates.
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Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial 

instruments. 

5. Business Units

The Corporation's primary objective is to finance infrastructure, heavy industry,  natural resource 

projects in Africa and to provide advisory, project development and other services related thereto. 

Operating units are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to executive 

management committee and Board of Directors. Segment information is provided on the basis of 

business units as the Corporation manages its affairs and business through these areas. The business 

units presented reflect the management structure of the Corporation and the way in which the 

Corporation's management reviews performance. The Corporation evaluates the performance of its 

operating segments primarily based on segment operating profit, as defined below:

1) Investment:

This service group offers financing, advisory and arranging services to infrastructure companies 

engaged in infrastructure, heavy industry and natural resource projects in Africa. AFC prioritises 

project financing, taking an active role across the financial value chain to originate, structure and 

syndicate major projects.  Financial products offered by AFC include senior debt, equity and 

hybrid investment products such as quasi equity or subordinate debt. The business unit is 

organised and reports along the following lines: (a) Project Finance, (b) Equity and (c) Structured 

Trade Finance & Advisory

2) Origination and Coverage

The division has responsibility for customer relationship management, deal origination, 

development and structuring of projects by bringing skill-sets and parties together as well as 

developing projects from the idea phase to a bankable phase drawing on sector and 

performance capabilities. The division also provides technical and economic advisory services to 

requisite industry segments in early stage project development, techno-economic analysis, 

feasibility studies and detailed engineering, environmental assessments, as well as performance 

enhancements of the Corporation's operating assets.

The Project Development unit of this division is the flagship differentiating platform which 

underpins AFC's strategy to play a leading role in addressing the continent's infrastructure deficit. 

It identifies and develops 'bankable' infrastructure projects from inception to financial close and in 

return earns developer management fees and provides a captive pipeline of viable projects in 

which AFC can invest.

3) Treasury

Treasury is responsible for capital raising for the Corporation covering both debt and equity, 

ensuring that the Corporation has adequate capital and the desired capital structure at all times . 

In this role, the division interfaces with the Corporation's shareholders, bankers, potential lenders 

and other providers of capital. The division is also responsible for the management of the liquidity 

of the Corporation, ensuring that all liquidity risk management indices are met and that the 

Corporation is liquid at all times to meet its contractual obligations under normal and stressed 
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environments. It is also responsible for designing and executing hedges to manage the 

Corporation's exposure to market risk. 

The segment information provided to the Corporation's Board for their reportable segments for the 

year ended 31 December 2012:

Investment Treasury Total

& Origination

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Interest income 38,815 26,945 65,760

Dividend income 366 - 366

Fee and commission income 12,681 333 13,014

Net gain on financial instruments at

fair value through profit or loss 27,989 - 27,989

Interest & administrative expenses (26,385) (4,625) (31,010)

Operating profit 53,466 22,653 76,119

Total Assets 943,910 753,302 1,697,212

Total liabilities 190,800 270,323 461,123

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

6. Interest income

From

- Non-bank customers 33,833 14,784

- Money Market activites 17,189 20,709

- Fixed income securities 14,738 9,875

65,760 45,368

Interest expense

Borrowings

- From banks 2,675 1,246

- Others - -

2,675 1,246

7. Dividend income

Available-for-sale securities 366 961

366 961

8. Fee and commission income

Risk participation and commitment fees 5,589 2,738

Advisory and structuring fees 4,745 5,764

Arrangement, facility and other fees 2,680 3,360

13,014 11,862
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2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

9. Net gain on financial instruments at

fair value through profit or loss

Equity investments 27,989 -

27,989 -

10. Administrative expenses

Staff cost:

Wages and salaries 20,388 14,763

Other administrative expenses:

- Rent, rates and utilities 1,086 917

- Insurance 70 44

- Advertising and business promotion 618 835

- Auditor's remuneration 175 110

- Communication 954 906

- Travel 935 569

- Board expenses including directors fees 449 513

- Training, seminars and conferences 593 653

- Repairs and maintenance 56 55

- Project and  other transaction fees 640 243

- Consultancy fees 675 286

- Other expenses 516 491

- Depreciation and software amortisation (Notes 20 & 21) 1,180 1,811

28,335 22,196

11. Taxation

Under the Headquarters Agreement between AFC and the Government of the Federal Republic of 

Nigeria signed in May 2007, AFC is exempt from tax on all its income arising from operations in 

Nigeria. This is provided for in the Diplomatic Immunities and Privileges Order, published in the 

Federal Republic of Nigeria's Official Gazette No. 23 dated 15 February 2010 vol 97 section 1 (4)

12. Earnings per share

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the 

Corporation by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2012 2011

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Corporation (US$' 000) 76,119 34,749

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (' 000) 1,089,073 1,089,295

Basic earnings per share (expressed in cents per share) 6.99 3.19
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Diluted

The dilutive earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  (There were no potential dilutive 

ordinary shares during the year).

2012 2011

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (' 000) 1,089,073 1,089,295

Dilutive earnings per share (expressed in cents per share) 6.99 3.19

13. Cash and balances with central and commercial banks

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Cash in hand 29 9

Balances with commercial banks 193,137 12,760

193,166 12,769

Included in balances with other commercial banks is the sum of $182,081,971.44 received by the 

Corporation in its capacity as Facility Agent from participating banks in a project finance transaction. 

The amount was remitted to the borrower subsequent to year-end. The corresponding liability to the 

project client is included in accrued expenses and other liabilities (Note 22).

14. Loans and advances to banks

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Placements with banks 605,405 558,339

Advances under import finance 25,000 25,000

Interest receivable 3,062 4,528

633,467 587,867

All loans and advances to banks are current.

15. Derivative financial instruments

The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments recorded as assets or liabilities 

together with their notional amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a 

derivative's underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value 

of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at 

the year end and are indicative of neither the market risk nor the credit risk.
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Assets Liabilities Notionals

2012 2012 2012

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Derivatives used as fair value hedges

Options 296 858 18,647

296 858 18,647

Derivative financial instruments held or issued for hedging purposes

As part of its risk management process, the Corporation uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order 

to reduce its exposure to market risks. This is achieved by hedging specific financial instruments or a 

component thereof.

16. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Hybrid instruments (convertible debt) 50,243 -

Equity securities 36,302 8,313

86,545 8,313

The option component of the convertible debt is equity indexed, which results in no closely related risks 

inherent in the host contract. The Corporation therefore designated the hybrid contract as financial 

asset at fair value through profit or loss.

17. Loans and advances to other customers

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Project finance loans 157,212 95,509

Advances under trade finance 305,838 240,598

Interest and Fees receivable 2,160 3,762

465,210 339,869

18. Investment securities

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Debt securities at amortised cost:

- Corporate securities 141,454 129,472

- Sovereign securities 20,308 51,015

- Other debt securities 43,030 36,688

Equity securities (unlisted) at fair value 99,833 82,261

304,625 299,436
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(a) Included in investment securities are Corporate and Sovereign securities of $59,000,000 (31 

December 2011: nil) on repurchase agreements to secure short and medium term borrowings of 

$48,860,604 from other financial institutions which have been included in borrowings  in Note 23. 

These transactions have been conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard 

lending and repurchase activities.

As at 31 December 2012, the Corporation held no collateral, which it was permitted to sell or 

repledge in the absence of default by the owner of the collateral (31 December 2011: nil).

The movement in investment securities from the preceding financial year is as follows:

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

At beginning of the year 299,436 119,656

Additions 84,449 189,196

Net gain on fair valuation through other comprehensive income 7,113 -

Capital repayments (86,373) (9,416)

At end of the year 304,625 299,436

19. Other assets 2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Accounts receivable 4,632 2,263

Prepayments 6,096 2,952

10,728 5,215

Current 4,897 2,283

Non-current 5,831 2,932

20. Property and equipment
Motor Leasehold Furniture

Vehicles improvement & equipment Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 31 December 2011

Cost 2,027 1,564 2,562 6,153

Accumulated depreciation (1,257) (1,343) (1,816) (4,416)

Net book amount 770 221 746 1,737

Year ended December 2012

Opening net book value 770 221 746 1,737

Additions 1,255 6 270 1,531

Disposal – cost (1,201) - (114) (1,315)

Disposals – accumulated depreciation 1,150 - 108 1,258

Depreciation charge (427) (221) (408) (1,056)

Closing net book amount 1,547 6 602 2,155
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Included in Furniture and equipment are artworks totalling $130,317 that have not been depreciated. 

This is in line with the Corporation's accounting policy.

21. Intangible assets

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Project development costs 238 238

Software cost 782 329

1,020 567

Project development costs relate to ongoing projects. Software costs are costs incurred on the 

purchase and implementation of the Corporation's software.

The movement in intangible assets from the preceding financial year is as follows:

Project Software Total
Costs Costs Costs

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 1 January 2011 264 551 815

Additions - 138 138

Amortisation - (360) (360)

Write offs (26) - (26)

At 31 December 2011 238 329 567

At 1 January 2012 238 329 567

Additions - 752 752

Amortisation - (299) (299)

At 31 December 2012 238 782 1,020

22. Accrued expenses and other liabilities

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Unearned commission 2,637 1,855

Accruals 8,521 4,133

Pension liabilities 91 1,579

Balances held under facility agency arrangement (Note 13) 182,082 -

Other liabilities 649 173

193,980 7,740

All liabilities above are current.
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23. Borrowings

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Short term borrowings (less than 1 year) 78,996 80,000

Medium term borrowings (within 1 and 3 years) 68,950 -

Long term borrowings (Over 3 years) 117,885 -

Interest payable 454 126

266,285 80,126

As part of its Prudential Financial Guidelines, the Board of Directors has capped the Corporation's 

leverage ratio at a maximum of two times its shareholders' funds unimpaired by losses.

24. Contingent liabilities and commitments

A) Legal proceedings

As at 31 December, 2012, the Corporation had one pending legal proceeding in a court of 

law in the host country. The Directors are of the view that in the unlilkely event of an 

unfavourable outcome, the amount involved will be immaterial.

B) Equity commitments

These commitments as at 31 December 2012 relate to equity financing commitments to 

third parties.

C) Foreign exchange commitments

Foriegn currency commitments as at 31 December 2012 relate to swap and option 

transaction with a counterparty.

D) Debt commitments

Other commitments as at 31 December 2012 relate to trade and debt committment 

transactions.

Committments details as at 31 December 2012 are as follows:

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Equity commitments 8,304 14,516

Debt commitments 124,424 31,011

Foreign currency commitments 30,918 24,028

163,646 69,555

25. Special purpose companies

The Corporation had two incorporated special purpose companies namely AFC Infrastructure Limited 

and AFC Electric Limited in Seychelles in existence as at 31 December 2012. None of these 

companies has ever been in operation. Subsequent to year end, the two special purpose companies 

have been dissolved.
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26. Share capital

No. of shares Ordinary shares

In thousands US$'000

At 1 January 2011 1,089,319 1,089,319

Repurchased and cancelled during the year (202) (202)

(see note below)

At 31 December 2011 1,089,117 1,089,117

At 1 January 2012 1,089,117 1,089,117

Repurchased and cancelled during the year (50) (50)

(see note below)

At 31 December 2012 1,089,067 1,089,067

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2 billion with a par value of US$1.00 per share. 

The General Meeting in September 2009 adopted a Resolution (Resolution No: AFC/AGM. 

1/2009/09/003) requiring private shareholders of the Corporation who are natural persons to either 

transfer their shares into a Unit Trust or to voluntarily surrender their shares to the Corporation for 

repurchase at a price to be determined by the Corporation. Following a process whereby concerned 

shareholders were requested to indicate their option, pursuant to the General Meeting's Resolution, 

the Board of Directors adopted Resolution (Resolution No: AFC/ Board/ 2011/02) in 2011 approving 

the repurchase of the shares of five shareholders who opted to sell their shares to the Corporation at 

the price determined by the Board of Directors. Four shareholders completed the process in 2011 

while the fifth shareholder completed in 2012. All five shareholders have received payment for their 

repurchased shares. The share certificates surrendered by the former shareholders have been 

cancelled and the Register of Shareholders has been updated accordingly.

27. Retained earnings

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

At beginning of the year 78,790 44,041

Dividend declared and paid (15,000) -

Retained earnings for the year 76,119 34,749

At end of the year 139,909 78,790

The $15,000,000 dividend payment represents payment to shareholders based on the approved 

dividend in 2012.
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28. Fair value reserves

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

At beginning of the year - -

Net gains on available-for-sale financial assets 7,113 -

At end of the year 7,113 -

29. Dividends

Dividends are not accounted for until they have been ratified at the Annual General Meeting.

The Board of Directors is proposing a dividend of 3.8 US Cents per share, amounting to 

approximately $41,384,550. The resolution on payment of dividend will be tabled before the annual 

general meeting scheduled for 10 June 2013 and if approved, the dividend will be paid to all 

qualifying shareholders who are on the register of members as of  that date.

30. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following 

balances with less than three months maturity from the date of acquisition.

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Cash in hand and balances with commercial banks (Note 13) 193,166 12,769

Placements with other banks (Note 14) 605,405 558,339

At end of the year 798,571 571,108

31. Related-party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 

influence over the other party in making financial and operational decisions, or one other party 

controls both. The definition includes subsidiaries, associates, significant shareholders and their 

companies as well as key management personnel.

A number of transactions were entered into during the year with related parties in the normal course of 

business. These transactions were with Nigerian banks who are shareholders of the Corporation and 

an institutional shareholder.  The outstanding related party transactions at year end and the related 

income for the year are as follows:
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a) Loans and advances to related parties

Banks and other shareholders

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Loans outstanding as at end of year 286,572 268,786

Interest income earned 15,838 17,987

No provisions have been recognised in respect of any related party credit facility.

b) Key management compensation

2012 2011

US$'000 US$'000

Salaries and other short-term benefits 3,927 3,883

Key management staff refers to members of the Executive Management Committee, which are: (a) 

President and Chief Executive Officer, (b) Deputy Chief  Executive Officer and Chief Investment 

Officer, (c) Executive Director, Corporate Services and General Counsel, (d) Director & Chief Financial 

Officer, (e) Director and Chief Coverage Officer, and (f) Chief Risk Officer.

32. Events after the statement of financial position date

There were no events after the statement of financial position date which materially affect these 

financial statements.

83

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2012

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING | BRIDGING THE INVESTMENT DIVIDE



84

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2012

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING | BRIDGING THE INVESTMENT DIVIDE



85

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2012

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING | BRIDGING THE INVESTMENT DIVIDE



86

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2012

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING | BRIDGING THE INVESTMENT DIVIDE





A: 3A Osborne Road,

Ikoyi, Lagos

Nigeria

T: +234 1 279 9600

E: contact@africafc.org

 

www.africafc.org


